Ecology and Genomics of Microorganisms Reducing the Greenhouse Gas N₂O

Examples from the Rhizosphere

Daniel Robert Heinrich Graf

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Microbiology Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2015 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2015:109

Cover: Sunflower plants with root ball from the pot experiment in **paper III.** Inside the magnifying glass (free to use clip-art), a 16S rRNA maximum likelihood phylogeny of 652 microbial genomes containing either a *nir* or a *nosZ* gene (**paper II**) is shown. (photo and figure: Daniel Graf)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8416-5 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8417-2 © 2015 Daniel Graf, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2015

Ecology and genomics of microorganisms reducing the greenhouse gas N₂O. Examples from the Rhizosphere

Abstract

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) is a potent greenhouse gas and the major ozone depleting substance in the stratosphere. One major source of N₂O is incomplete denitrification, whereas the only known tropospheric sink of N₂O is the microbial enzyme nitrous oxide reductase. Denitrification is defined as the stepwise reduction of nitrite to dinitrogen via nitric oxide and N₂O by facultative anaerobic microorganisms. This thesis aims to elucidate the phylogenetic diversity of the N₂O reductase encoding gene *nosZ* and its context in microbial genomes in relation to other genes in the denitrification pathway, as well as the relative influence of plants and soil on the activity, abundance and structure of N₂O-reducing communities in the rhizosphere.

Phylogenetic analysis of publicly available nosZ gene sequences revealed that its genetic diversity is divided into two distinct clades termed clade I and clade II, the latter having not been accounted for in previous studies. Newly developed molecular tools revealed that it is abundant in a wide range of environments. Analysis of microbial genomes showed that co-occurrence patterns of nosZ with other denitrification genes were neither randomly distributed among taxonomic units nor among habitats. Many genomes had truncated pathways as organisms possessing nosZII often lacked other genes involved in denitrification, suggesting these organisms may act as N_2O -sinks in the environment. Pot experiments with sunflower and barley indicated a niche differentiation between the two nosZ gene variants, as nosZI showed an affinity for plant roots while nosZII was more abundant in the surrounding soil. However, denitrification and N₂O-production activity in soil were controlled by edaphic factors. Moreover, an intercropping experiment with cocksfoot and lucerne showed that intercropping had a negative influence on nosZII abundances on cocksfoot roots which in conjunction with phylogenetic placement of sequencing reads indicated the presence of organisms with only nosZ lacking a denitrification pathway.

In conclusion, the development of new molecular tools combined with comparative genomic analysis sheds new light on the ecology of biological N_2O reduction in the rhizosphere.

Keywords: nitrous oxide, *nosZ*, *nirS*, *nirK*, microbial genomes, community assembly, rhizosphere, intercropping

Author's address: Daniel Graf, SLU, Department of Microbiology, P.O. Box 7025, 75 007 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* daniel.graf@ slu.se

Dedication

To those who care to see behind the curtain.

I varje själ är tusen själar fångna, i varje värld är tusen världar dolda och dessa blinda, dessa undre världar är verkliga och levande fast ofullgångna, så sant som jag är verklig.

ur Färjesång - Gunnar Ekelöf

Contents

List of Publications Abbreviations		
1.1	Nitrous oxide emissions from terrestrial ecosystems	11
1.2	Biological processes regulating N ₂ O	12
1.3	The denitrification pathway	12
1.4	Denitrifier community ecology	14
1.5	Abiotic factors influencing denitrification activity	15
1.6	Denitrifier community structure	16
1.7	Plants as factors regulating denitrification	16
1.8	Aim and outline of the thesis	17
2	Diversity of nitrous oxide reductase	19
2.1	Nitrous oxide reductase	19
2.2	nosZ as a molecular marker	20
2.3	nosZ sequence diversity and abundance	21
2.4	Secretion pathways of N ₂ OR	23
2.5	Does N ₂ O reductase diversity matter?	24
2.6	Conclusions and perspectives	26
3	Co-occurences of denitrification genes	27
3.1	Modularity of the denitrification pathway	27
3.2	nirK and nirS niche partitioning	30
3.3	Taxonomy as a proxy for co-occurrence types	32
3.4	Conclusions and perspectives	34
4	Community assembly in the rhizosphere	37
4.1	Denitrification and N ₂ O-emissions in the rhizosphere	40
4.2	Community assembly processes in the rhizosphere	42
4.3	Effects of intercropping	44
4.4	Conclusions and perspectives	45
5	General conclusions and perspectives	47
Refe	rences	51

Acknowledgement

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to in the text by Roman numerals:

- I Jones, C.M., Graf D.R.H., Bru, D., Philippot, L., Hallin, S. (2013). The unaccounted yet abundant nitrous oxide-reducing microbial community: a potential nitrous oxide sink. *ISME Journal* 7, 417-426.
- II Graf, D.R.H, Jones, C.M. and Hallin, S. (2014). Intergenomic comparisons highlight modularity of the denitrification pathway and underpin the importance of community structure for N₂O emissions. *PLoS ONE*, 9(12):e114118.
- III Graf, D.R.H, Jones, C.M., Zhao, M. and Hallin, S. Community assembly of N₂O-reducing denitrifiers associated with roots include selection and competition with community composition mainly depending on soil type. (manuscript)
- IV Graf, D.R.H, Zhao, M., Carlsson, G. Jones, C.M., and Hallin, S. Composition and activity of N₂O-reducing communities associated with roots of *Medicago sativa* and *Dactylis glomerata* during intercropping. (manuscript)

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of the author to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Performed a minor part of the laboratory work, the analysis and the writing.
- II Participated in the planning of the study, performed half of the work and a major part of the analysis and the writing.
- III Performed the majority of the planning of the experiment as well as of the work, the analysis and the writing.
- IV Participated in the planning of the study and performed half of the laboratory work, the analysis and the writing

Abbreviations

ANAMMOX	anaerobic ammonia oxidation
DNRA	dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium
N_2O	nitrous oxide
N ₂ OR	nitrous oxide reductase
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	ammonium
NIR	nitrite reductase
nirK	gene encoding for copper-binding nitrite reductase
nirS	gene encoding for heme-binding nitrite reductase
NO	nitric oxide
NO ₂	nitrite
NO ₃	nitrate
NOR	nitric oxide reductase
nosZ	gene encoding for nitrous oxide reductase
ppb	parts per billion

1 Introduction

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) is a colourless, odourless, non-toxic gas, commonly known as laughing gas. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report on climate change (2013) considers N₂O the third most important greenhouse gas. The atmospheric concentration levels of the gas have increased from 271 ppb in 1750, as determined by ice core analysis, to 324 ppb in 2011 of which 5 ppb have been added since 2005. Moreover the IPCC states that, considered over a 100 year period, the global warming potential for N₂O is 298 times higher than that of CO₂, thus making the gas responsible for around 7 % of the global radiative forcing despite occurring at far lower concentrations than CO₂. Historically, the concentration of N₂O currently observed in the atmosphere has not been as high since at least 800 000 years ago, and levels are rising with increasing speed. The stratosphere is considered the main sink for N₂O, where the gas undergoes photolysis to NO which in turn destroys ozone molecules. N₂O is now considered the most dominant ozone depleting substance (Ravishankara et al., 2009).

1.1 Nitrous oxide emissions from terrestrial ecosystems

Of global N₂O-emissions, 62% are attributed to terrestrial ecosystems where agricultural systems comprise the largest single source of N₂O (Skiba and Smith, 2000). The other third is produced in the oceans, whereas additional sources are the combustion of fossil fuels in power plants and vehicles as well as the production of nitric acid (IPCC, 2007). Smith et al. (2012) could effectively link the global rise of N₂O levels to overall inputs of reactive N into agricultural systems. This reactive N includes biologically fixed N and N fixed as synthetic fertilizer, as well as N mineralized from soil organic matter (SOM), when natural land is converted to agriculture, as well as NOx

deposition from combustion. Thus, they identified agricultural systems as the main source responsible for rising N_2O levels.

1.2 Biological processes regulating N₂O

 N_2O is part of the N cycle, which begins with the fixation of atmospheric nitrogen into ammonium (NH₄⁺) either by diazotrophic microorganisms or through the Haber-Bosch process in the industrial production of fertilizers. The NH₄⁺ that is not incorporated into growing plant or microbial biomass can either be aerobically oxidized to NO₃⁻ via nitrification or converted to N₂ through anaerobic ammonia oxidation (ANAMMOX). The NO₃⁻ produced by nitrification can be reduced to N₂ via denitrification, which in addition to ANAMMOX is a major pathway by which fixed N is returned to the atmosphere. However, NO₃⁻ can also be reduced to NH₄⁺ by the process dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA).

In soils, N₂O-emissions can be primarily attributed to nitrification and denitrification (Okereke, 1993; Zumft, 1997). The former is a two-step process where ammonia (NH_3) is first oxidized to nitrite (NO_2) via the intermediate hydroxylamine (NH₂OH) by ammonia oxidizing bacteria and archaea, and then to nitrate (NO_3) by nitrite oxidizing bacteria. While N₂O can be produced from oxidation of hydroxylamine, it has been pointed out that denitrification is the main cause of N₂O emissions also from ammonia oxidizers (Kool et al., 2011). Also DNRA can give rise to N₂O, here toxic NO can accumulate in the cell and is detoxified to N₂O (Spiro, 2012). However, this process is considered to contribute only marginally to overall N₂O budgets (Kool et al., 2011). Nevertheless, which process constitutes the dominant source of N₂O in a given system at a given point in space and time will depend on substrate availability and environmental conditions and can thus vary substantially (Baggs, 2011). In contrast, the only known biological sink for N₂O is the reduction to N₂ by nitrous oxide reductase, whose part in the denitrification pathway was in focus in this thesis.

1.3 The denitrification pathway

Denitrification is a facultative, anaerobic respiratory pathway in which NO_3 or NO_2 is reduced to N_2 with the intermediates NO and N_2O . N_2O can either be an intermediate or end product of denitrification, which is why the process is considered both a source and a sink for N_2O (Chapuis-Lardy et al. 2007; Jones

et al. 2014; Philippot, Andert, et al. 2010). The first step in the denitrification pathway is the reduction of NO_3^- to NO_2^- which can either be catalyzed by a membrane associated nitrate reductase (NarGH) or its soluble periplasmic homologue (NapAB). This two electron step is considered to be the most energy conserving step in the denitrification pathway (Chen and Strous, 2013). The next step, the reduction of NO_2^- to NO, is regarded as the defining step of denitrification since nitrate reduction as a trait can exist decoupled from later steps in the denitrification pathway and be part of DNRA while NO as a free radical is cytotoxic and needs to be reduced further to N₂O (Shapleigh, 2006; Zumft, 1997). Dissimilatory nitrite reduction is performed by two functionally equivalent but evolutionarily distinct enzymes: the copper binding nitrite reductase, encoded by the gene *nirK*, and the heme binding reductase, encoded by the gene *nirS*. Both enzymes are located in the periplasm and until recently have been considered mutually exclusive in the genomes of denitrifying organisms. However, in paper II both genes were found in the genomes of a number of organisms, although whether both enzymes are functional in the same cell has not been shown so far. Reduction from NO to N2O is carried out by nitric oxide reductase (NOR), which is a membrane bound protein with three structurally homologous variants. Since NO is a potent intercellular signalling compound and cytotoxin, its reduction to the relatively benign N₂O is not unique to denitrification and many microorganisms possess NOR to detoxify (Zumft, 2005). The last step of the pathway is nitrous oxide reductase (N₂OR) which is the only known sink of N₂O apart from stratospheric photolysis. N₂OR is a copper binding enzyme situated in the periplasm. Energetically, the complete denitrification pathway results in the transport of 30 protons across the cytoplasmic membrane to drive ATP synthesis when NADH is used as electron donor, six of which are contributed by N₂Oreduction (Richardson et al., 2009). Thus, N₂O reduction contributes about 20% to the overall energy gain of the denitrification pathway (Richardson et al., 2009), and many organisms have been shown to lack the nosZ encoding gene for N₂OR (paper II, Jones et al. 2008). On the other hand, bacteria such as Wolinella succinogenes, Campylobacter fetus, the thermophile Geobacillus thermodenitrificans and the soil bacterium Anaeromyxobacter dehalogenans, have been demonstrated to grow with N2O as the sole electron acceptor (Liu et al. 2008; Payne et al. 1982; Sanford et al. 2002; Sanford et al. 2012) and many with the nosZ gene often lack other genes typically associated with the denitrification pathway (paper II, Jones et al. 2008). This has led to the conception that the denitrification pathway is a modular pathway where

organisms can have different combinations of denitrification genes (**paper II**; Zumft 1997).

1.4 Denitrifier community ecology

Denitrification as a facultative respiratory pathway is found amongst a wide variety of organisms (Philippot et al., 2007). In paper II, the genomes of 262 genera from 19 different phyla across bacterial, archaeal, and fungal domains were found to harbour either a nirK, nirS or nosZ gene. However, closely related microbial strains may or may not possess the ability to denitrify (paper I; paper II; Cavigelli & Robertson 2001; Jones et al. 2008). This effectively renders taxonomy-based approaches to assess the denitrifying microbial community useless. Instead, denitrifier communities are studied by using functional genes as opposed to 16S rRNA or other taxonomic marker genes, and PCR-based tools have been developed since the late 1990's (Braker et al., 1998; Hallin and Lindgren, 1999; Scala and Kerkhof, 1999). With the advent of bioinformatics and improved sequencing techniques these tools are being constantly refined in order to better capture the extant genetic diversity of denitrifying communities present in the environment (paper I; Dandie et al. 2007a; Throbäck et al. 2004; Verbaendert et al. 2014). Conceptually, this approach utilizes the idea of 'functional guilds' in which a group of organisms is defined by a shared ecosystem function rather than taxonomic affiliation (Simberloff and Dayan, 1991). It is thereby assumed that a functional guild can be targeted using one or several marker genes encoding the functional trait in question. The modularity of the denitrification pathway requires the employment of several functional gene markers in order to comprehensively assess communities that drive ecosystem functions such as N2O-regulation. Another implication of the modular pathway concept is that a given denitrifier community might perform differently in situ depending on the community structure of organisms harbouring different set-ups of denitrification genes present (Philippot et al. 2011; Jones et al. 2014). Since denitrification is such a wide-spread function it is important to consider that other characteristics such as chemolithoautotrophy versus heterotrophy with different environmental cues may also play an important role in determining how denitrifier communities assemble in situ. While most studies point out habitat filtering as the driving force behind community assembly (e.g.Horner-Devine & Bohannan 2006; Jones & Hallin 2010), recent research shows that recruitment of microbial communities to a given niche from a surrounding matrix can also be based on stochastic processes (Burke et al., 2011a). Due to the modular nature of the

denitrification pathway, it is of importance whether a given N_2O -regulating community is the result of adaptation to different niches where denitrification might pose a competitive advantage or stochastic processes based on biogeography, or a combination of both.

1.5 Abiotic factors influencing denitrification activity

A basic driver of N₂O-regulation is soil moisture as it regulates the availability of oxygen in soil pores. While it has been postulated that N₂O-emissions have their optimum at 70-80% water-filled pore space (Davidson et al., 2000), a comprehensive comparison of 51 soils has shown that this is highly dependent on soil type (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013). Since denitrification is a facultative respiratory pathway in the absence of oxygen, low oxygen levels result in the upregulation of denitrification genes. Interestingly Bakken et al. (2012) found that N₂OR in contrast to NIR and NOR is upregulated before oxygen is completely depleted in Paracoccous denitrificans. Temperature is another important factor that can influence denitrification activity in soils. It has been found that the stimulation of denitrification by an increase in temperature by 10°C exceeded the observed stimulation of CO₂ emissions (Schaufler et al., 2010). This is attributed to the fact that the microbial C and N cycles are tightly interlinked and that increased soil respiration due to increased overall microbial activity result in lower oxygen levels in soils (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013). Another key factor for denitrification is NO_3^- availability. Here it is postulated that N₂O-emissions increase with N saturation in any given ecosystem where NO₃⁻ has the strongest stimulation effect on N₂O emissions of five investigated N compounds (Liu and Greaver, 2009). Soil pH also has a strong influence on denitrification activity (Bergaust et al., 2010; Clark et al., 2012; Simek and Cooper, 2002), especially the ratio of end products (Bakken et al., 2012; Šimek et al., 2002). It has been speculated that as N₂OR cannot assemble properly at low pH's (Bakken et al., 2012). Since many known denitrifiers depend on carbon compounds as electron donors, soluble carbon and thus soil organic matter content also affects denitrification rates (Bijay-Singh et al., 1988; Burford and Bremner, 1975). These general environmental drivers fluctuate largely both spatially and temporally, especially in a medium as heterogeneous as soil. Temporary water-logging, seasonal changes from drought to rewetting as well as transition zones between upland and wetland soils can result in 'hot spots' and 'hot moments' for denitrification (Groffman et al., 2009). Indeed, Parkin (1987) found that the bulk of denitrification activity in a soil core was localized in a minute fraction of the core constituting a decaying leaf.

1.6 Denitrifier community structure

Even though environmental factors play an important role determining denitrification activity and N₂O emissions, the actual outcome ultimately depends on the microbial community in situ. However, microbial communities in turn are shaped by environmental factors. The main factors shaping denitrifier communities in soils include carbon availability, soil moisture, temperature and pH (Wallenstein et al., 2006). In soil, these factors vary largely in conjunction with physical parameters such as particle size, soil organic matter content and porosity. This spatial heterogeneity could be shown to be reflected in the structure of denitrifier communities (Enwall et al. 2010; Philippot et al. 2009a). Apart from environmental cues, biogeographical distribution and site history are factors that cannot be neglected concerning microbial community composition in general (Green and Bohannan, 2006; Lindström and Langenheder, 2012; Martiny et al., 2006) and denitrifier community composition in particular (Jones and Hallin, 2010; Prasse et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2015). An interesting feature in this context is that several steps of the denitrification pathway are encoded by different genes and gene variants, most prominently the *nirK* and *nirS* genes that encode two very different enzymes providing the same function but which have evolved independently (Jones et al. 2008). Since organisms in most cases only possess one of the two genes (paper II), it has been discussed whether these occupy different ecological niches and indeed indications for this have been found (Enwall et al., 2010; Hallin et al., 2009; Jones and Hallin, 2010). N₂OR has long thought to be encoded by one variant of the *nosZ* gene predominantly found in proteobacteria (Scala and Kerkhof, 1999) however a new gene variant from a greater variety of organisms has been detected more recently (paper I; Simon et al. 2004; Sanford et al. 2012). While the two clades of nosZ are phylogenetically related also here there is indication for niche differentiation between the two (paper III and IV, Jones et al. 2014).

1.7 Plants as factors regulating denitrification

The rhizosphere, defined as the soil influenced by plant roots, is a hotspot for denitrification due to higher inputs of organic carbon and nitrogen from plant roots via exudates, mucilage and shed root cells as well as fluctuating levels of oxygen (Henry et al., 2008; Klemedtsson et al., 1987; Prade and Trolldenier, 1988). However, this effect has been shown to vary across plant species (Crush, 1998; Wheatley et al., 1990). This may be of profound importance for N₂O-emissions, which are typically higher in soils planted with different agricultural crops when compared to that of bulk soils (Ding et al. 2007; Dong

et al. 2005; Hénault et al. 1998; Højberg et al. 1996; Klemedtsson et al. 1987; Ni et al. 2012; Sey et al. 2010; Verma et al. 2006). Moreover, plants have been found to influence denitrifier microbial community structure. Higher proportions of denitrifiers relative to other heterotrophic organisms have been reported in proximity to roots (Berg and Bothe, 1992; Clays-Josserand et al., 1995) and significant differences in denitrifier community composition have been observed between the rhizosphere and the surrounding bulk soil (Chèneby et al. 2004; Hamonts et al. 2013; Philippot et al. 2002; Ruiz-Rueda et al. 2009). Sharma et al. (2005) found that maize plants select denitrifiers carrying the *nirK* gene over those with *nirS* genes, further indicating a niche differentiation between organisms carrying these genes. Similarly, **paper III** indicates that organisms carrying the Clade I *nosZ* have an affinity to plant roots which is not shared by those with Clade II *nosZ*.

1.8 Aim and outline of the thesis

The aim of this thesis was to investigate the ecology of the N_2O -reducing microbial community both in general and in the rhizosphere as a model system. Since N_2O -reduction is taxonomically wide spread the microbial community providing this function was assessed using the *nosZ* gene as a proxy.

In **paper I** the phylogenetic diversity of N_2O -reducing microorganisms and to develop tools to comprehensively target them in a large variety of environments. Moreover, co-occurrence patterns of denitrification genes relevant for N_2O -regulation in microbial genomes were put into context regarding taxonomy and habitat preferences of respective organisms, generating hypotheses about their ecology (**paper II**). The tools and hypotheses developed in **paper I** and **II** were applied in the rhizosphere as a relevant model system for N_2O -regulation. Here, the relative influence of soil type and plant species (**paper III**) and intercropping (**paper IV**) on denitrification activity and the community assembly of N_2O -reducing microorganisms in the rhizosphere were investigated.

2 Diversity of nitrous oxide reductase

2.1 Nitrous oxide reductase

N₂OR is a soluble enzyme located in the periplasm. Structurally, the enzyme is a homodimer with each monomer binding six copper ions in the form of two copper clusters, a di-nuclear electron transfer and storage site, CuA and a tetranuclear cluster, CuZ (Dell'Acqua et al., 2011). Enzyme synthesis is upregulated by transcription factors sensitive to oxygen (FNR), nitric oxide and nitrite (NNR), and nitrate (NarR) levels (Richardson et al., 2009). The CuZ center can be damaged by oxygen and is inactivated by transient oxygen (Frunzke and Zumft, 1986) which likely can be the cause for elevated N₂O emissions in environments with highly fluctuating O levels (Richardson et al., 2009). Since the two copper centres together require 12 copper ions (Haltia et al. 2003; Paraskevopoulos et al. 2006) the enzyme is highly copper dependent and it has been shown that N₂O emissions rise in copper deficient media (Granger and Ward, 2003; Matsubara et al., 1982). Compared to other denitrification enzymes, the activity of N₂OR has also been shown to be more affected by low temperatures (Bakken et al., 2002) which putatively could explain observed peaks in N₂O emissions during winter time (Dörsch et al., 2004; Sehy et al., 2003). However these peaks could also be attributed to nutrient release during freeze-thaw cycles (Christensen and Christensen, 1991). Nevertheless, the abiotic factor affecting N2OR that is most widely discussed is pH (Simek and Cooper, 2002). Indeed the enzyme has been shown to be sensitive to pH and to have its activity optimum at pH > 7 in vitro, which seems, however, to be dependent on the electron donor (Berks et al., 1993; Dell'Acqua et al., 2008). Accordingly, a number of studies report higher N₂Oemissions from denitrification at low pH (Baggs et al., 2010; Čuhel and Šimek,

2011; Kesik et al., 2006). However, others report adaptation of denitrifier communities to low pH levels in situ (Parkin et al., 1985; Šimek et al., 2002; Yamulki et al., 1997) and Palmer et al. (2010) could demonstrate consumption of N_2O at low pH.

2.2 *nosZ* as a molecular marker

While abiotic factors certainly are of importance for the formation and functioning of N₂OR, the ultimate factor regulating whether N₂O will be reduced to N₂ in a given environment is whether there are organisms present that harbour the gene encoding the enzyme - nosZ. Denitrification as a trait is widespread among many bacterial and archaeal phyla, and even fungi. Moreover, since the trait is facultative, denitrification genes are likely to be horizontally transferred (Alvarez et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2008; Philippot, 2002). Since the energy gain from N₂O-reduction is comparatively low, it has been discussed whether *nosZ* is more prone to gene loss, as suggested by the observation that a large fraction of denitrifiers do not possess the gene (paper II; Jones et al. 2008). Although it has been shown that *nosZ* phylogenies are most congruent with 16S rRNA phylogenies from the same organisms compared to other denitrification genes (Dandie et al. 2007a; Jones et al. 2008), closely related genes can be found in distantly related organisms and vice versa and closely related organisms may or may not possess a nosZ gene (Philippot, 2002). Of this follows that comprehensive studies of the N₂O-reducing microbial community cannot rely on 16 rRNA as a molecular marker but need to address the functional gene itself.

The PCR-based assays used in microbial community ecology rely on primer sequences specific to the target gene. Primers for functional genes typically target regions within the gene that encode for conserved structural features of the enzyme such as catalytic domains, which in the case of *nosZ* include regions encoding for the CuA and the CuZ active sites (**paper I**). The comprehensiveness and specificity of a given primer pair depends on the variation present in the sequences used in their design. In case of *nosZ*, the primers used during the last decade were based on sequences obtained from cultured proteobacterial species (Henry et al., 2006; Scala and Kerkhof, 1999; Throbäck et al., 2004) that were relevant for human health and agriculture. However, the increasing number of sequenced genomes from a more diverse range of organisms available in the databases, combined with indications for a wider range of N₂OR diversity (Jones et al., 2011; Sanford et al., 2002; Simon et al., 2004), prompted a re-evaluation of the *nosZ* sequence diversity present

in the databases, and new primers were designed to target a hitherto unaccounted clade of the gene (paper I).

2.3 nosZ sequence diversity and abundance

The diversity of *nosZ* genes described in previous studies consisted primarily of sequences from α -, β - and γ - proteobacteria due to the limitations of sequence databases (Jones et al. 2008; Palmer et al. 2009). However, the rapid increase of available genome sequences since the advent of affordable next generation sequencing methods has resulted in a dramatic expansion of the known nosZ diversity. For comparison, while Jones et al. (2008) found 43 distinct sequences of nosZ in public databases, 142 sequences were obtained in paper I and 314 in paper II. The maximum likelihood phylogeny of the 142 full length *nosZ* sequences in **paper I** revealed an entire new clade of potential N₂O reducers belonging to a wide range of bacterial and archaeal phyla, designated clade II (Figure 1). Organisms possessing a nosZ from this new clade included hyperthermophilic archaea, δ - and ε -proteobacteria, Gemmatimonadetes and Bacteroidetes. The latter three groups have been shown to be highly abundant in soils and fresh water lakes (Lauber et al., 2009: Newton et al., 2011), thus hinting at the relative ecological importance of nosZ Clade II. This was corroborated by quantitative PCR showing nosZ Clade II to be equally abundant or in even higher abundance than the traditional nosZ Clade (subsequently designated nosZ Clade I) in a variety of environments, spanning from arable soils and rice paddys to lake sediment and waste water treatment plants (paper I). Earlier studies have found that, compared to the abundance of the nitrite reductase genes *nirS* and *nirK* potentially producing N₂O, the *nosZ* gene abundance was 2-10 times lower (Bru et al., 2011; Hallin et al., 2009; Henry et al., 2006). The discovery that nosZ Clade II is similar abundance in many environments as *nosZ* clade I has diminished this gap, however nir abundances are still substantially higher. Interestingly, Sanford et al. (2012) demonstrated that a strain of the nosZ Clade II harbouring bacterium Anaeromyxobacter dehalogenans could grow more efficiently with N₂O as electron acceptor compared to a nosZ Clade I harbouring Pseudomonas stutzeri strain, indicating a higher efficiency of the clade II N₂OR. In addition, while several denitrifying species with nosZ Clade I have been shown to exhibit inhibition of N₂O respiration in the presence of nitrate (Blackmer and Bremner, 1978: Richardson et al., 2009), this was not observed for *Angeromyxobacter*. This could indicate that i) Clade II N₂OR might be affected differently by environmental factors, which is supported by the fact that it has a different secretion pathway, and ii) that organisms possessing nosZ Clade II might be

adapted to different ecological niches than canonical denitrifiers with *nosZ* Clade I (cf. **paper III**). This is underscored by the fact that most *nosZ* Clade II organisms as shown earlier belong to different bacterial and archaeal phyla. In **paper I**, many species with *nosZ* Clade II were among the Bacteroidetes. Interestingly Philippot et al. (2009a) found that Bacteroidetes (*nosZ* Clade II) and α -proteobacteria (*nosZ* Clade I) showed contrasting spatial patterns across a pasture thus indicating adaptation to different environmental conditions in situ which, one might speculate, inter alia could be temperature and O, NO₃⁻ and pH levels affecting denitrification.



Figure 1. Unrooted maximum likelihood phylogeny of full-length *nosZ* amino-acid sequences obtained from genomes. The distribution of signal peptide motif detected for each clade is indicated. Symbols on tree tips specify major taxonomic groups, and scale bar indicates corrected substitutions per site. Nodes with > 70% bootstrap support (n=500) are denoted by dots.

2.4 Secretion pathways of N₂OR

An interesting observation in **paper I** was that the two different *nosZ* clades had signal peptides coding for different protein translocation pathways. With the exemption of the archaeal genus *Ferroglobus* and some Chloroflexi, all members of *nosZ* Clade II had the signal peptide coding for the widely used secretory pathway (sec) where proteins are transported unfolded across the cytoplasmic membrane. By contrast, all sequences coding for *nosZ* Clade I had the signal peptide coding for the twin arginine translocation (tat) pathway, in which proteins are transported across the membrane already folded (Pohlschröder et al., 2005). This pathway is used by many organisms to

transport redox proteins (Lee et al., 2006). Rose et al. (2002) could see that the tat pathway was much more extensively used among halophilic archaeal strains compared to mesophilic or thermophilic archaeal strains and thus drew the conclusion that the pathway might be an adaptation to high salt concentrations outside the cytoplasm which interfere with protein folding. However, the halophilic bacterium Salinibacter ruber did not show the same extensive use of the Tat-pathway in general (Dilks and Giménez, 2005) and for N₂OR in particular (paper I). Energetically the Tat-pathway requires the equivalent of 10 000 ATP to transport a folded protein while the Sec-pathway requires 1 ATP per 20 amino acids (Lee et al., 2006). This large difference raises the question why organisms use a secretion pathway as comparatively costly as the Tat-pathway? One rationale is that complex co-factors can be inserted in the cytoplasm which sidesteps the requirement for additional mechanisms to export the cofactor and to catalyse its insertion into the protein in the periplasm (Palmer and Berks, 2012). However even though the CuZ center of N₂OR is a complex co-factor it is inserted in the periplasm (Zumft, 2006). Although this puzzle is not vet solved it is intriguing to think that using the less costly Secpathway might contribute to more efficient usage of N₂O as electron acceptor as observed for Anaeromyxobacter dehalogenans by Sanford et al. (2012). Additionally, operons encoding for Clade II type N₂OR include accessory genes different from those encoding Clade I N2OR (Sanford et al. 2012; Simon et al. 2004) indicating different mechanisms of protein folding, translocation and assembly.

2.5 Does N₂O reductase diversity matter?

An ongoing debate in ecosystem ecology is whether biological diversity matters for ecosystem functioning. In ecosystem models, microbial diversity and community structure are usually not addressed and instead put into a black box of kinetic constants and response functions (Schimel, 2001). This is based on the assumption that microbial communities are resistant, resilient and functionally redundant as well as so taxonomically diverse that incorporation into models is deemed neither necessary nor feasible (Allison and Martiny, 2008). Here it is assumed that turnover rates do not change with environmental conditions and that microbial processes are never limited by the abundance of any microorganism (Schimel, 2001). Microbial communities are believed to be resistant in the sense that disturbances do not result in changes of community composition, and resilient, meaning that if they change they quickly return to their original stage. However in accordance with Hooper et al. (2005), who

state that higher levels of biodiversity correspond to increased ecosystem functioning, an extensive review has found that a majority of microbial communities are neither resistant nor resilient, especially when longer time periods and repeated disturbances are considered (Allison and Martiny, 2008).

In case of denitrifying bacteria, Philippot et al. (2013) could show that removal of 75% of bacterial OTU's (operational taxonomic units) led to a decrease in potential denitrification activity of about 48 to 88 %, and that the diluted communities stabilized at this lower level showing that these communities were neither resistant nor resilient. Functional redundancy in turn means that loss of diversity does not alter the functional performance of a given biological system and thus figures as a null hypothesis of biodiversity (Loreau, 2004; Nannipieri et al., 2003). The common definition for functional redundancy is in terms of niche similarity, where species with identical niches may still differ in their ability to exploit resources. This definition is however flawed since organisms in a changing environment such as soil that differ in their ability to exploit resources, are not redundant. While a community might temporarily perform equally after diversity loss, differences in performance would become evident over time with changing conditions. This can be exemplified with denitrifiers that perform alike under certain conditions, but have different niches when it comes to e.g. low temperature. Here, loss of those organisms adapted to low temperatures would lead to lower overall community performance in winter time even though a measurement at warmer temperatures would not show this. Consequently, one needs to ask whether organisms can be perfectly redundant, meaning that losing any species from the community would not alter the function within the range of environmental conditions prevalent in situ (Johnson, 2000).

Cavigelli & Robertson (2001) observed that different denitrifier communities from geomorphically similar soils had different N₂O-emission rates and that each community was regulated differently by environmental factors. Moreover inocculation with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* lacking the *nosZ* gene led to an increase in N₂O-emissions in three different soils (Philippot et al., 2010b).

In **paper I**, a previously unknown diversity of N_2O -reducing organisms from very different microbial phyla is described. These *nosZ* clade II bearing organisms have been shown to have different N_2O -sink capacities and to be regulated differently by environmental factors compared to *nosZ* clade I (Jones et al., 2014). According to Loreau (2004) perfect redundancy requires stable coexistence while stable coexistence in turn requires differences between organisms which lead to functional complementarity and not redundancy which is why he argues that perfect functional redundancy cannot exist. However, he further argues that spatial and temporal environmental variability makes functional redundancy possible at small spatial and temporal scales. This was confirmed by studies on plants showing that while plant communities appeared to be redundant in terms of biomass in short term, diversity increased biomass production in the long run (Reich et al., 2012). In conclusion it seems thus unlikely that a given N₂O-reducing community is redundant over long periods of time and changing environmental conditions.

2.6 Conclusions and perspectives

Given that nosZ Clade II was in equal or higher abundance than nosZ Clade I in most environments investigated in paper I, its ecological significance in terms of N₂O reduction should not be underestimated, as demonstrated in Jones et al. (2014). Future studies quantifying the genetic potential for microbial N₂O reduction need to address both nosZ Clades in order to assess the N2O-reducing community comprehensively. Since most studies concerning the influence of abiotic factors on denitrification and N₂O reduction have been carried out using canonical denitrifiers carrying nosZ clade I, effort should be put into investigating whether nosZ Clade II carriers are affected differently by these factors and thus maybe occupy different ecological niches. The latter is corroborated by the observations in **paper III** where the two clades differ in their affinity to plant roots and should be investigated further. The environments where *nosZ* gene abundances were assessed in **paper I**, were limited in number and no marine samples were investigated. Future studies should investigate more environments and include marine samples in order to assess the significance of nosZ Clade II for N₂O reduction on a global level. Furthermore, studies regarding differences in cellular regulatory mechanisms between nosZ clade I and nosZ Clade II N2OR should be performed in order to possibly relate different ecological niches to physiological constrains.

3 Co-occurences of denitrification genes

3.1 Modularity of the denitrification pathway

That the denitrification pathway is modular, meaning that organisms do not always have the complete set of denitrification genes, has been previously suggested (Zumft, 1997). However, the scope of this modularity and how it relates to taxonomy and habitat preferences has not been addressed. This is perhaps unsurprising since studying the genetic potential of microorganisms requires fully sequenced microbial genomes, which until recent years have not been available in sufficient numbers. Paper I was focused on the N₂OR gene nosZ, and the next logical step appeared to be to investigate how N₂Oreduction is connected to N₂O-production in microbial genomes. Since NO needs to be detoxified to N₂O, nitrite reductase is usually considered to be the N₂O-producing step in the denitrification pathway. Two evolutionary different and most often mutual exclusive (paper II) nitrite reductases exist encoded by the genes *nirS* and *nirK* and it has been indicated that these occupy different ecological niches (Enwall et al., 2010; Hallin et al., 2009; Jones and Hallin, 2010). One of the aims of paper II was to investigate the frequence of cooccurrence of nosZ with either nirS or nirK since if the nosZ gene would be lacking more frequently in genomes with one or the other nitrite reductase gene this would theoretically increase the potential for N₂O-emissions in a given environment dominated by this gene.

In **paper II**, all microbial genomes available at the time (November 2012) containing either the nitrite reductase genes *nirK* or *nirS* or the nitrous oxide reductase gene *nosZ* were downloaded from the National Center for Biotechnology Information database (NCBI, USA). At that point, the NCBI contained around 5000 microbial genomes including fungi, of which many were drafts. As a side note, today (August 2015) there are 47 777 fully

sequenced prokaryotic genomes alone. Nevertheless, after curating the data there was a dataset of 652 genomes containing either a nir or a nos gene (Figure 2) in no less than seven different combinations. Distinct co-occurrence patterns of the two genes with nosZ were detected where nosZ co-occurred much more often with nirS than with nirK (Figure 3). This could be interpreted such that the *nirS* gene can serve as an indicator for canonical denitrifiers who reduce nitrite all the way to dinitrogen which was emphasized by the fact that one of the nitric oxide reductase genes *qnorB* and *cnorB* almost always cooccurred with nirS while it was often lacking with nirK. In contrast, the lack of a nosZ gene in the majority of all cases in organisms with nirK could be interpreted such that *nirK* might be an indicator for nitrite reducers putatively giving rise to N₂O-emissions. That many *nirK*-type organisms lacked a *nor* gene is surprising given the fact that nitric oxide is a toxic free radical. However these organisms might be detoxifying using a third nitric oxide reductase named qCu_ANor that has been described in *Bacillus azotoformans* (Suharti et al., 2004) which was not included in the study.



Figure 2. Maximum likelihood phylogeny of full-length 16S/18S rRNA sequences from 652 organisms with denitrification genes. The coloured ring represents taxonomic affiliation as indicated by the legend. Bootstrap values > 70% are indicated by black circles. Classification is based on the SILVA database with denomination according to NCBI taxonomy.



Figure 3. Pie charts depicting genomic co-occurrence of the *nosZ* gene with the nirK and nirS genes in percentage of a) the total number of organisms harbouring *nosZ*, b) organisms from *nosZ* Clade I and c) from *nosZ* Clade II. Genomes with only *nosZ* (black), *nosZ* and *nirK* (light grey) and *nosZ* and *nirS* (dark grey) are indicated. Six genomes harbouring both *nirS* and *nirK* in addition to *nosZ* are excluded, as well as eight halophilic Archaea that group outside Clade I and II in b) and c).

3.2 nirK and nirS niche partitioning

Niche partitioning between *nirK* and *nirS* communities has been suggested in several studies (Desnues et al. 2007; Jones & Hallin 2010; Junier et al. 2008; Knapp et al. 2009; Smith & Ogram 2008). Especially soil moisture has been pointed out as a partitioning factor since *nirS* has been found to be dominating in waterlogged and wet soils (Ligi et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2008; Petersen et al. 2012; Philippot et al. 2009c) as well as sediments (Abell et al., 2010; Nogales et al., 2002) whereas *nirK* communities dominated in comparatively dry soils (Babić et al., 2008; Bremer et al., 2009; Dandie et al., 2008). Moreover, it has been suggested that organisms harbouring *nirS* are better adapted to stable anoxic environments, while *nirK* communities tend to dominate under more recurrently changing conditions (Graham et al., 2010; Knapp et al., 2009; Petersen et al., 2009).

In an evolutionary context, the existence of more than one allele in a population is prohibited by genetic drift and allele fixation. With the caveat that evolutionary theory was originally developed with monophyletic animal populations in mind and providing that horizontal gene transfer occurs in denitrifier communities (Jones et al. 2008; Alvarez et al. 2013) one can extrapolate that: Two functionally equivalent genes can co-exist only if i) communities are geographically or temporally separated so that exchange of genetic material cannot occur, ii) communities harbour only one of the genes due to genetic barriers prohibiting gene transfer (Kurland et al., 2003), or iii) the genes are not truly functionally equivalent meaning that possessing the one or the other provides a selective advantage under different environmental conditions. In case of the two functionally equivalent genes *nirS* and *nirK* we

know that this is unlikely to be the case since the two genes have been found in the same environment in numerous studies (e.g. Bañeras et al. 2012; Enwall & Hallin 2009; Smith & Ogram 2008). Considering ii, in **paper II** we can see that Ascomycota and Actinobacteria exclusively have a *nirK* gene while in contrast ε -bacteria only have *nirS*, thus indicating putative genetic barriers in these phyla. The study however, also shows that both genes occur in closely related strains of α -, β -, and γ -proteobacteria indicating that no genetic constraints concerning transfer of the *nir* genes exist in these classes. It has been shown that a *nirK* gene from a *Pseudomonas aureofaciens* strain could replace a knocked out *nirS* gene in a *Pseudomonas stutzeri* strain and encode a functional nitrite reductase (Glockner et al., 1993). Thus there might be genetic constraints concerning the acquisition of one of the *nir* genes in some microbial phyla but not in others. Concerning the latter the most plausible explanation why there are still two functionally equivalent genes left is iii; adaptation to different environmental conditions.

When comparing the 652 genomes, 10 were found to harbour both nirS and *nirK*, which earlier had been thought to be mutually exclusive in the genomes of denitrifiers. The question whether both genes translate into functional enzymes remains however unanswered. It is intriguing to speculate whether possessing both gene variants is a result of adaptation to certain environmental conditions, which is indicated by the fact that these organisms were significantly overrepresented in wastewater treatment plants and among extremophilic organisms (paper II). Wastewater treatment plants built to optimize nitrogen removal use a two-step process where aerobic ammonia oxidation to nitrite and further to nitrate is facilitated by aeration and denitrification occurs under anaerobic conditions so that oxygen levels fluctuate rather rapidly and substantially. Four of the organisms harbouring both nitrite reductases that were isolated from wastewater were Pseudomonas stutzeri strains. Pseudomonas stutzeri occurs naturally in soils and sediments and can be an opportunistic pathogen (Lalucat et al., 2006). Strains of this species have been shown to denitrify under high oxygen levels (Ji et al., 2015; Su et al., 2001), a characteristic which is thought to be an adaptation to highly fluctuating oxygen levels such as in tidal sand flats (Gao et al., 2010). Under such rhythmically changing conditions it might be of advantage to employ both enzymes in order to gain maximum efficiency. Given that other environmental factors are kept relatively constant in a wastewater treatment plant, such finetuned adaptation to one factor is not unlikely to happen. However research is required to elucidate if, how and under which conditions the two enzymes are active in the same cell.

3.3 Taxonomy as a proxy for co-occurrence types

Although 16S rRNA based taxonomy at species level cannot serve as a proxy for N₂O-regulation as a trait, the question of whether genomic co-occurrence patterns of denitrification genes are independent of taxonomy remains unanswered. The ecological coherence of high taxonomic ranks, defined such that members of a taxon share general life strategies or traits that distinguish them from other taxa, has been proposed previously (Philippot, Andersson, et al. 2010). The rationale is that phylogenetic relationships and ecotypes coincide to a certain extent in monophyletic lineages with the underlying assumption that the particular lineage has evolved to occupy a specific ecological niche. A prominent example here is the phylum Cyanobacteria, in which all representatives are photoautotrophs. However, such a straightforward pattern is only the case for a few microbial phyla, whereas the majority has members at lower taxonomic ranks that are adapted to many different ecological niches, thus obscuring possible coherent ecological characteristics (Philippot, Andersson, et al. 2010). Nonetheless members of theses phyla or other higher taxonomic ranks can still have an overall preference for a particular habitat or environmental parameter setting which is not strong enough to be detectable among its subtaxa, but becomes apparent when higher taxonomic units are considered (Koeppel and Wu, 2012). A number of studies have associated shifts in higher order community structure with health conditions such as diabetes (Giongo et al., 2011) obesity (Ley et al., 2005) and cancer (Turnbaugh et al., 2007), while other studies could associate higher taxonomic ranks with particular environments such as marine or fresh water (Glockner et al., 1999; Zwart et al., 2002). However, a pit-fall of such association studies is the inability to determine whether the higher order associations truly reflect habitat associations of the whole taxonomic unit or only of a few highly abundant lower level taxa. Re-evaluation of two studies of the human skin and gut microbiome show this to be the case for the phylum Firmicutes in human guts that had been associated with obesity, where only the Clostridiales within the Firmicutes phylum were associated with obesity (Koeppel and Wu, 2012).

In case of co-occurrence types of *nir* and *nosZ* genes, seven different types were found to not be randomly distributed among the different taxonomic divisions of organisms in the dataset (**paper II**). Instead, significant patterns could be discerned at the phylum, class and order levels. The Ascomycota and Actinobacteria had the same pattern (*nirK*-only) throughout all taxonomic ranks, whereas *nosZ*-only types were overrepresented among members of the Bacteroidetes, even though other patterns could also be observed in this

phylum. However, a third of these organisms also did not have a nor gene, which could be attributed to the order Flavobacteriales making this pattern more specific to the Flavobacteriales than the Bacteroidetes in general. In contrast, patterns of partial pathways were significantly underrepresented among Proteobacteria, especially β - and γ -proteobacteria. The picture that is thus emerging when N₂O-regulation is considered is one of three different groups of organisms: one that potentially produces N2O but does not reduce it (Actinobacteria and Ascomycota), one that consists of canonical denitrifiers capable of producing and reducing N₂O (Proteobacteria), and one that potentially reduces but does not produce N₂O (Bacteroidetes or Flavobacteriales). This coincides with the results of Philippot et al (2009a, 2009b) who investigated the abundance of different taxa at high taxonomic ranks, as well as the abundance of different denitrifier genes and potential N₂O production and denitrification rates on a field that was subjected to different cattle grazing regimes. Interestingly, the percentage of N₂O to total denitrification activity $(N_2 + N_2O)$ was lowest in the region of the field with the highest relative abundance of Bacteroidetes and lowest abundance of Actinobacteria. Furthermore, regions of the field in which nirS and nosZ Clade I were most abundant also had the highest relative abundance of Betaproteobacteria, corresponding to our finding that the co-occurrence of nirS and *nosZ* is the predominant pattern of denitrification genes within this class. Thus, taxonomic information in conjunction with the co-occurrence patterns described in paper II have the potential power to predict N₂O-emission potential in situ. However, a distinction has to be made between taxonomic units that always show the same pattern such as the Actinobacteria and the *nirK* only pattern, and those where there is a significant association only such as the Betaproteobacteria and the *nirS* and *nosZ* pattern, where by no means do all Betaproteobacteria have this pattern. Even though there are significant trends among the Proteobacteria, we observe all co-occurrence patterns within this phylum indicating that denitrification as a facultative trait is evolutionarily labile among taxa at species and strain level, with frequent transitions between genetic set-ups. Martiny et al. (2009) state that for Prochlorococcus, the transition between high-light and low-light habitats occurs at greater phylogenetic depth than the transition between different temperatures, which in turn occurs at greater depth than transitions between habitats with different nitrate concentrations, indicating that some transitions are more difficult to make than others. Analogously, the acquisition of denitrification genes may be more difficult for Ascomycota and Actinobacteria, resulting in nitrite reduction being conserved at greater phylogenetic depth, whereas it might be

comparatively easy for Proteobacteria resulting in gene transfer occuring at species and strain level.

3.4 Conclusions and perspectives

Paper II confirmed that the denitrification pathway is highly modular with a range of different possible co-occurrence patterns between the nir and nos genes. However, the co-occurrence patterns were neither randomly distributed among taxa nor among habitats. Even though there are exceptions, we identified a significant pattern of *nirS* genes being representative of canonical denitrifiers and *nirK* as being more likely associated with nitrite reducers with truncated denitrification pathways. This corroborates earlier suggestions that organisms with either gene residing in their respective genome occupy different ecological niches. The two different clades of nosZ also show nonrandom co-occurrence patterns where organisms with nosZ Clade II in more than one third of all cases do not have a *nir* gene while this is much more rare in organisms with nosZ Clade I. Thus nosZ Clade II organisms are more prone to act as N₂O sinks which has been demonstrated recently (Jones et al., 2014). **Paper II** was a hypothesis generating study and indeed many questions arise from it. The basis of the study were fully sequenced microbial genomes from public databases which at the time of download were still heavily biased towards culturable strains important for human health and agriculture. It would thus be interesting to see whether the observed patterns can be confirmed in genome studies focusing on environmental samples. In addition, since the number of available genome sequences in the databases rises exponentially over time, it would be of interest to do a follow up study in some years and see if our observations are corroborated with a larger dataset. The hypothesis of whether organisms with *nirS* or *nirK* occupy different niches regarding stable versus fluctuating anoxic conditions could be tested in microcosm studies that are subjected to different oxygen regimes with subsequent gene quantification. These could be combined with metagenomic analyses and denitrification activity measurements in order to test the hypothesis that *nirS* organisms represent canonical denitrifiers, which if dominant may lead to lower N₂O-emissions. Establishing a link between the *nirK/nirS* ratio, fluctuating conditions, and high N₂O-emissions could then also answer why we see hotspots and hot moments of N₂O-emissions in environments with fluctuating oxygen levels. Pseudomonas stutzeri strains are relatively easy to cultivate so that investigating if, when and how the four strains which have both *nirS* and *nirK* residing in their genomes use the enzymes should probably not prove too difficult. Maybe this could lead to the discovery of a highly efficient waste water treatment strain? Another interesting question that arises from **paper II** is whether taxonomy can serve to predict denitrification gene co-occurrence patterns and thus N₂O-emission potential. Here it would be of special interest to explore the N₂O-reducing Bacteroidetes and see if a putative N₂O sink function can be narrowed down to *Flavobacteriales* or whether this observation merely is a case of database bias or if it is reflected in nature and if so, what are the underlying ecological and evolutionary mechanisms?
4 Community assembly in the rhizosphere

The rhizosphere of agricultural crops is an import model system to study denitrification and N₂O-emission dynamics since denitrification is stimulated by a living root system (Woldendorp, 1962) and because the major part of anthropogenic N₂O-emissions originates from agricultural soils (IPCC, 2013; Smith et al., 2012). The relative influence of plant species versus edaphic factors on denitrification rates and N₂O-emissions and how this relates to the microbial community structure has long be discussed (Philippot et al., 2009c) and was a focus in the experiment in **paper III.** Here, a pot experiment was set up in growth chambers growing barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and sunflower (*Helianthus anuus*) in two agricultural soils, one with a high clay content and one with a high portion of sand (Figure 4).

Monoculture systems that are prevailing in today's agricultural systems have been shown to give rise to higher N₂O-emissions compared to those with mixed plant species (Niklaus et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2013) which is why **paper IV** focused on the effect of intercropping on denitrification rates and the community structure of N₂O-reducing microorganisms. In this experiment lucerne (*Medicago sativa*) and cocksfoot (*Dactylis glomerata*) were grown in rhizoboxes either as single crops or intercropped in an agricultural soil from a site near Alnarp, Sweden (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Pot experiment with barley and sunflower as well as unplanted soil randomized on a tray in a growth chamber kept at 20°C during day time and 15° during night with 18h day length. (Photo: Daniel Graf)



Figure 5. Sketch of a rhizobox, indicating the height, width and depth (left), and photo of a rhizobox with intercropped cocksfoot (*Medicago sativa*) and lucerne (*Dactylis glomerata*) taken at the soil and root sampling occasion (Photo: Georg Carlsson).

4.1 Denitrification and N₂O-emissions in the rhizosphere

Increased rates of denitrification in rhizosphere compared to bulk soil have been measured in a number of studies (Bakken, 1988; Højberg et al., 1996; Klemedtsson et al., 1987). The activity was positively correlated to NO_3^{-1} , where at low NO₃⁻ concentrations, denitrification rates could even be lower in the rhizosphere compared to bulk soil (Qian et al., 1997; Smith and Tiedje, 1979). The positive rhizosphere effect on denitrification activity has been shown to decrease with moisture tension (Bakken, 1988) and was confined to an air-filled pore space below 10-12% (v/v) (Prade and Trolldenier, 1988). However, studies on rice paddy fields have found that N₂O-emissions occur mainly during periods when the fields are not flooded (Lindau et al., 1990; Xing, 1998). The primary driver behind the rhizosphere effect is postulated to be low molecular organic compounds from roots and denitrification rates have been positively correlated to soluble organic C (Baggs and Blum, 2004) and the addition of root exudates or mucilage (Henry et al., 2008; Mounier et al., 2004). However, the latter studies could not observe any differences in the denitrifier community composition depending on rhizodeposits. Differences between plant species with regard to their effect on denitrification activity have been observed for legumes and cereals (Kilian and Werner, 1996; Scaglia et al., 1985; Svensson et al., 1991), with legumes generally stimulating higher activity, but also for different grass species (Patra et al., 2006) and wetland species (e.g. Ruiz-Rueda et al. 2009). Some studies also report plant species to significantly influence the denitrifier community composition (Bremer et al., 2007; Chèneby et al., 2004; Hamonts et al., 2013; Patra et al., 2006; Philippot et al., 2002; Ruiz-Rueda et al., 2009) while others could not find such a connection (Deiglmayr et al., 2004).

Emissions of N₂O have been observed to be greater in the presence of growing plants, particularly legumes, than from bare soil (Klemedtsson et al. 1987; Højberg et al. 1996; Ni et al. 2012; Dong et al. 2005; Ding et al. 2007; Sey et al. 2010; Hénault et al. 1998; Verma et al. 2006). Emission factors vary from 0.1% to 7% of nitrogen applied in different agricultural systems (Skiba and Smith 2000), reflecting differences in vegetation type, crop management, inherent soil properties and climate. In **papers III** and **IV** we could not observe any differences between planted and unplanted soil concerning denitrification activity in any of the soils used in the experiments. This might be attributed to the fact that we did not add any fertilizer during the experiment, putatively resulting in comparatively low NO_3^- levels. However no N limitation of the plants could be observed for either *nosZ* Clade I or Clade II communities in the soil.

However, a significant plant effect could be observed for the *nosZ* Clade I community in **paper IV**, which mainly could be attributed to compositional differences between the unplanted soil and the soil planted with lucerne (Figure 6) which indicates that a putative plant effect on the N₂O-reducing community both depends on the plant and the clade of *nosZ* involved. **Paper III** also showed that soil effects overrode plant effects even in association with roots concerning both the community structure of *nosZ* Clade I and II and the gene abundances of 16S rRNA, *nirK*, *nirS* and *nosZ* II. This is in accordance with a number of recent studies that have shown that soil effect overrides plant effect considering microbial community structure in the rhizosphere (Bulgarelli et al., 2012; Edwards et al., 2015; Lundberg et al., 2012; Prasse et al., 2015).

Interestingly, denitrification and N₂O production could only be measured from barley and cocksfoot roots, but not from sunflower and lucerne even though gene abundance data showed that bacteria in general, as assessed by 16S rRNA genes and N₂O-reducing bacteria were present in similar abundances on the roots of all species (papers III and IV). However, Li et al. (2007) reported significantly higher concentrations of malate and citrate in the rhizosphere of faba bean compared to the rhizosphere of maize, which is in accordance with previous observations that dicots, particularly legumes, produced and excreted more organic acids to the rhizosphere than monocots (Raghothama 1999). The denitrification activity assay protocol used in papers III and IV was based on glucose. acetate and succinate, and denitrifying and N₂O-reducing microorganisms specialized on the usage of specific exudates that putatively dominate the root surface of lucerne and sunflower might not have been activated and thus, no activity could be measured.



Figure 6. Non-metric multidimensional scaling of generalized UniFrac distances) of *nosZ* Clade I (stress: 0.06) where open symbols depict communities on root samples and closed symbol denote soil samples where blue=cocksfoot and red=lucerne. Triangles symbolize samples from rhizoboxes with monocultures and squares from those with intercropping. Black stars depict unplanted soil.

4.2 Community assembly processes in the rhizosphere

The principles underlying assembly and structure of microbial communities, especially in relationship to ecosystem functioning, are of general concern in microbial ecology. Traditionally, community assembly has been regarded as the result of a continuum of abiotic and biotic factors driving community structure (Weiher and Keddy, 1995), where the driving forces are habitat filtering, dispersal, diversification and drift (cf. Vellend 2010; Nemergut et al. 2013). Neutral theory as proposed by Hubbell (2001) is based on the assumption that in case of ecological redundancy of organisms the composition of communities at a local scale is influenced only by random immigration, birth and death events (Woodcock et al., 2007). While neutral theory applies the concept of ecological redundancy broadly, the competitive lottery model (Sale, 1978) applies it within the frame of a given niche such as the root or soil. Burke et al. (2011) could explain the large variation in the community structure of microbial communities based on taxa between individual specimens of the coastal macro algae Ulva australis with the competitive lottery model. Nevertheless, they identified a core of functional genes present in all taxa associated with the surface of the algae suggesting that assembly is not random in terms of function. Thus, a given microbial community in situ is most likely the result of a combination of both niche driven and neutral processes. In fact, Ferrenberg et al. (2013) could demonstrate that while neutral processes dominate in shaping forest soil communities shortly after a wildfire, the community is later predominantly shaped by habitat filtering, thus indicating that different processes take effect under different circumstances.

From an ecological point of view, conventional agricultural fields constitute a habitat subjected to recurring perturbations, thus keeping it at a presuccessional stage, and unlike natural systems with permanent vegetation, living roots are a temporary phenomenon in this system. Hence, every year a new microbial community is recruited from the soil to constitute the root microbiome of the annual crop and the question arises whether community assembly is based on ecological niche partitioning, neutral processes or a combination of both. One aim of paper III was to study whether nosZ Clade I and II denitrifiers are recruited to roots stochastically or whether they occupy particular niches in the rhizosphere. Both edge principal component analysis and non-parametric multidimensional scaling in paper III and IV showed that the structure of root sample N₂O reducing communities was more variable than in the soil communities. The net relatedness index further showed that the nosZcommunities in the root samples tended to be relatively more phylogenetically dispersed across the phylogeny than soil samples irrespective of the soil type. Taken together this indicated that community assembly on roots is not based on niche partitioning since that would imply selection of close relatives based on advantageous traits for that particular habitat, but rather an important role for competition between close relatives where traits are conserved (Webb et al., 2002). Thus, in accordance with Burke *et al.* (2011a, 2011b) it seems likely that the community assembly of nosZ Clade I and Clade II communities on roots in the rhizosphere might be based on the lottery hypothesis which states that within a pool of organisms capable of utilizing resources in a given habitat priority effects take place. However this data only describes the community assembly within each clade of nosZ and whether members of the two clades assemble to a common community based on neutral processes or if they separate due to habitat filtering remains unanswered.

As described in **papers I and II**, the two clades of nosZ have a distinct taxonomic affiliation and show distinct co-occurrence patterns with other denitrification genes. Hence, it seems logical to ask whether organisms representing either clade occupy different ecological niches in different

environments. This idea is in accord with Jones et al. (2014) who found that phylogenetic diversity and abundance of nosZ Clade I and II were differently affected by various edaphic factors in bulk soil, and the observation that nosZ Clade I, but not Clade II could be readily amplified in roots from various macrophyte species (Hallin et al., 2015). In paper III, gene abundance data indicated an affinity to plant roots of nosZ Clade I organisms, whereas the abundance and structure of nosZ Clade II organisms was mainly governed by a soil effect. While the pattern was the same for *nosZ* Clade II in **paper IV**, this could not entirely be corroborated for nosZ Clade I, where no significant difference in abundance between root and soil communities could be observed. Still, the idea that *nosZ* Clade I has an affinity to plant roots is asserted by earlier studies showing that the gene was in greater abundance in the proximity to roots compared to bulk soil (Hamonts et al., 2013; Ruiz-Rueda et al., 2009). Overall, data indicates that nosZ Clade II has a preference for soil, which putatively implies that these organisms predominantly are subject to different environmental cues than nosZ Clade I organisms which should be investigated further.

4.3 Effects of intercropping

Intercropping is the agricultural practice of growing two or more crops simultaneously in the same location, and is considered to be a more sustainable method for increasing crop yields compared to high-impact practices associated with monoculture-based farming systems (Brooker et al., 2015). The increase in plant biomass resulting from intercropping relies on efficient use of resources via niche complementarity (Hooper and Vitousek, 1997). In particular, enhanced N use efficiency is a key feature of intercropping (Brooker et al., 2015) and several studies have shown that soil N pools increase with decreasing plant diversity (Mueller et al., 2013; Niklaus et al., 2006; Zak et al., 2003). Interestingly, higher N₂O-emissions have been observed in monoculture systems compared to intercropped systems (Niklaus et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2013), indicating an effect of intercropping on microbial communities either producing or reducing N₂O. In **paper IV** we observed that the abundance of nosZ Clade II was significantly lower in association with cocksfoot roots from rhizoboxes that were intercropped with cocksfoot and lucerne compared to those planted with cocksfoot alone. This coincided with a higher ratio of potential N₂O-production to total denitrification activity on intercropped cocksfoot roots compared to single cropped ones. Moreover, amplicon sequencing data showed that most nosZ Clade II reads associated with roots were most similar to sequences associated with Ignavibacteria.

Gemmatimonades and Opitutaceae. The two known Ignavibacteria genomes harbouring nosZ genes are Ignavibacterium album and Melioribacter roseus and both possess the nosZ Clade II gene, but no nir or nor genes (Graf et al., 2014). These organisms as well as a number of species within the Opitutaceae do, however, possess nrfA gene (R. Sanford et al., 2012; Song et al., 2014). Sanford et al. (2012) found nosZ Clade II in 15 genomes of organisms that also possessed the *nrfA*, encoding the enzyme catalysing the reduction of nitrite to ammonium within the dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium (DNRA) pathway. The process has been shown to be positively correlated to high C:N ratios (Schmidt et al., 2011; Song et al., 2014), which is found in direct association with roots of non-legume plants such as cocksfoot where the plant competes for NO₃⁻ and provides low molecular weight C (Danso et al., 1987; Ehrmann and Ritz, 2013). In cereal-legume intercropping systems, competition for soil N by the cereal results in depletion of N in the rhizosphere of the legume, which in turn stimulates N-fixation activity (Danso et al., 1987; Ehrmann and Ritz, 2013; Hauggaard-Nielsen et al., 2001). This in turn probably decreases the C:N ratio making it plausible that heterotrophic microorganisms associated with lucerne roots became C limited due to growth stimulation by excess N and started to compete for C produced by the cocksfoot roots with the DNRA organisms, resulting in lower numbers of the latter. Thus, one possible scenario is that organisms harbouring nosZ Clade II in association with cocksfoot roots perform DNRA and reduce N2O, while intercropping with lucerne results in a decrease in the C:N ratio, and subsequently organisms performing DNRA decrease in number which leads to an increase of the N₂O-production/denitrification ratio on intercropped cocksfoot roots. Alternatively it could be that when N is not limiting due to the presence of lucerne, denitrifiers become more dominant. Among those many could lack *nosZ* resulting in a higher N₂O-production/denitrification ratio.

4.4 Conclusions and perspectives

The rhizosphere of agricultural crops is an important system to study N₂Oreducing microorganisms due to the often high denitrification activity, which increases the risk for N₂O-emissions. **Paper III** and **IV** indicated a niche differentiation between *nosZ* Clade I and II organisms. Here, one needs to keep in mind that the majority of studies on N₂O-reducing organisms have been conducted targeting *nosZ* Clade I only. The present papers emphasize that conclusions drawn from these studies cannot simply be expanded on N₂O reducing organisms in general. This is also affirmed by the observation that the dominant group of *nosZ* Clade II organisms associated with roots in paper IV probably were organisms performing DNRA. Thus, future research needs to address the environmental factors controlling organisms harbouring *nosZ* Clade II in further detail as well as their abilities to perform DNRA. In addition, the affinity of *nosZ* Clade I to plant roots should be studied further in order to understand the mechanisms behind this. One particular difficulty in these studies was to develop assays to assess potential denitrification and N₂O-production rates in association with roots. The harvested root biomass was comparatively low so that the assay had to be scaled down substantially. While the results showed a distinct difference in root-associated denitrifier activities between the different plant species, development of more sensitive assays is required.

5 General conclusions and perspectives

Due to accelerating climate change, the mitigation of anthropogenic N₂Oemissions is an urgent matter. During the recent decades significant progress has been made studying microorganisms as driving forces of the N-cycle even though many open questions remain. Although the activity, abundance and community structure of denitrifying microorganisms is dependent on abiotic factors, whether N₂O is emitted or reduced to N₂ in a given environment ultimately depends on whether there are microorganisms present that are capable of doing so. Thus, understanding the effects of environmental drivers on microbial biodiversity, and in turn the effect of changes in biodiversity on N₂O-regulation, is crucial. The advent of molecular methods in general and high-throughput sequencing in particular has greatly facilitated this endeavour. This thesis aimed to further elucidate the ecology of N₂O-reducing microorganisms by exploring the genetic diversity, the genomic context, and the relation to plants as habitat shaping factors in the rhizosphere, the results of which are summarized in the following conclusions.

- A new gene variant of the N₂OR encoding gene *nosZ* (Clade II) was described, which largely belongs to organisms taxonomically distinct from the previously known *nosZ* (Clade I) harbouring organisms, and is in equal abundance in many environments (**paper I**). Future research needs to consider *nosZ* Clade II whenever the N₂O-reducing microbial community is assessed.
- Investigation of microbial genomes revealed that co-occurrences patterns of N₂O-reducing *nosZ* with *nir* and *nor* genes were non-randomly distributed among taxonomic groups and habitats (paper II). Seven different co-occurrences patterns were observed elucidating the modularity of the denitrification pathway. Thus, denitrifiers with a complete pathway constitute only one group of organisms providing the ecosystem function of

denitrification and the existence of various consortia of NO_2^- and $N_2O_2^-$ reducers in a given environment needs to be taken into consideration when denitrification and $N_2O_2^-$ reduction are assessed as functions.

- Indications for niche differentiation between organisms harbouring either *nirS* or *nirK* (**paper II**) and *nosZ* Clade I or II (**paper III and IV**) have been found. However, whether these organisms differentiate due to different substrate affinities, adaptation to certain environmental factors or ecological strategies needs to be further investigated.
- In soil, denitrification and N₂O-production as well as the abundance and structure of denitrifying and N₂O-reducing communities was mostly affected by edaphic factors compared to plant factors, even though *nosZ* Clade I abundance could not be explained by either (**paper III**). Thus, future studies ought to address the circumstances in terms of soil type, plant species and environmental conditions under which a rhizosphere effect on N₂O-emissions occurs.
- N₂O-reducing communities on roots differed both in terms of abundance and composition from those in the corresponding soil (paper III and IV). While abundance and structure of *nosZ* Clade II communities could predominantly be explained by soil even in association with roots the *nosZ* Clade I community structure was explained by soil and a comparatively large plant factor which together with higher abundances of this clade in association with roots (paper III) might indicate niche differentiation between the two clades in the rhizosphere.
- Intercropping with *Medicago sativa* negatively affected the abundance of *nosZ* Clade II in association with roots of *Dactylis glomerata* and increased the N₂O-production/denitrification ratio (**paper IV**) which in conjunction with phylogenetic placement of sequencing reads indicated the presence of organisms with only *nosZ* lacking a denitrification pathway. The fact that these organisms decreased when a legume was present might indicate that organisms harbouring *nosZ* Clade II might be subject to different environmental cues than those with the Clade I type, which warrants further investigations.

Future research on the ecology of N₂O-reducing microorganisms can draw from a rich reservoir of methods and from a vast amount of publicly available

sequence data and, despite some limitations, from accompanying metadata. The data mining study in **paper II** gave valuable insights into the modularity of the denitrification pathway and future research should make more use of the readily available data at public databases to gain deeper insights and generate hypotheses to be tested in field studies or laboratory experiments. Moreover, the continued development of microbial ecology theory should be prioritized to be able to place the data generated in sequencing studies into a theoretical framework that greatly could enhance the interpretation of results. This would provide a great advantage, especially when studying all but straight-forward processes as denitrification and N_2O -reduction.

References

- Abell, G.C.J., Revill, A.T., Smith, C., Bissett, A.P., Volkman, J.K., Robert, S.S., 2010. Archaeal ammonia oxidizers and *nirS*-type denitrifiers dominate sediment nitrifying and denitrifying populations in a subtropical macrotidal estuary. ISME J 4, 286–300. doi:10.1038/ismej.2009.105
- Allison, S.D., Martiny, J.B.H., 2008. Colloquium paper: resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105 Suppl, 11512–11519. doi:10.1073/pnas.0801925105
- Alvarez, L., Bricio, C., Blesa, A., Hidalgo, A., Berenguer, J., 2013. The transferable denitrification capability of *Thermus thermophilus*. Appl Environ Microbiol 80, 19–28. doi:10.1128/AEM.02594-13
- Babić, K.H., Schauss, K., Hai, B., Sikora, S., Redzepović, S., Radl, V., et al., 2008. Influence of different Sinorhizobium meliloti inocula on abundance of genes involved in nitrogen transformations in the rhizosphere of alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.). Environ Microbiol 10, 2922–2930. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01762.x
- Baggs, E., 2011. Soil microbial sources of nitrous oxide: recent advances in knowledge, emerging challenges and future direction. Curr Opin Environ Sustain 3, 321–327. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2011.08.011
- Baggs, E.M., Blum, H., 2004. CH₄ oxidation and emissions of CH₄ and N₂O from *Lolium perenne* swards under elevated atmospheric CO₂. Soil Biol Biochem 36, 713–723. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.01.008
- Baggs, E.M., Smales, C.L., Bateman, E.J., 2010. Changing pH shifts the microbial source as well as the magnitude of N₂O emission from soil. Biol Fertil Soils 46, 793–805. doi:10.1007/s00374-010-0484-6

- Bakken, L.R., 1988. Denitrification under different cultivated plants: effects of soil moisture tension, nitrate concentration, and photosynthetic activity. Biol Fertil Soils 6, 271–278. doi:10.1007/BF00261011
- Bakken, L.R., Bergaust, L., Liu, B., Frostegard, Å., 2012. Regulation of denitrification at the cellular level: a clue to the understanding of N2O emissions from soils. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 367, 1226–1234. doi:10.1098/rstb.2011.0321
- Bakken, L.R., Do, P., Holtan-Hartwig, L., Dörsch, P., Bakken, L.R., 2002. Low temperature control of soil denitrifying communities: kinetics of N₂O production and reduction . Environ Microbiol 34, 1797–1806.
- Bañeras, L., Ruiz-Rueda, O., López-Flores, R., Quintana, X.D., Hallin, S., 2012. The role of plant type and salinity in the selection for the denitrifying community structure in the rhizosphere of wetland vegetation. Int Microbiol 15, 89–99. doi:10.2436/20.1501.01.162
- Berg, K.-H.L., Bothe, H., 1992. The distribution of denitrifying bacteria in soils monitored by DNA-probing. FEMS Microbiol Lett 86, 331–340. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.1992.tb04825.x
- Bergaust, L., Mao, Y., Bakken, L.R., Frostegård, Å., 2010. Denitrification response patterns during the transition to anoxic respiration and posttranscriptional effects of suboptimal pH on nitrous oxide reductase in *Paracoccus denitrificans*. Appl Environ Microbiol 76, 6387–6396. doi:10.1128/AEM.00608-10
- Berks, B.C., Baratta, D., Richardson, J., Ferguson, S.J., 1993. Purification and characterization of a nitrous oxide reductase from *Thiosphaera pantotropha*. Implications for the mechanism of aerobic nitrous oxide reduction. Eur J Biochem 212, 467–476.
- Bijay-Singh, J., Ryden, A., Whitehead, D., 1988. Between Denitrification Potential and Fractions of Organic Carbon. Soil Biol Biochem 20, 737–741.
- Blackmer, A. M., Bremner, J.M., 1978. Inhibitory effect of nitrate on reduction of N₂O to N₂ by soil microorganisms. Soil Biol Biochem 10, 187–191. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(78)90095-0
- Braker, G., Fesefeldt, A., Witzel, K.-P., 1998. Development of PCR Primer Systems for Amplification of Nitrite Reductase Genes (*nirK* and *nirS*) to Detect Denitrifying Bacteria in Environmental Samples. Appl Environ Microbiol 64, 3769–3775.

- Bremer, C., Braker, G., Matthies, D., Beierkuhnlein, C., Conrad, R., 2009. Plant presence and species combination, but not diversity, influence denitrifier activity and the composition of *nirK*-type denitrifier communities in grassland soil. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 70, 377–387. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2009.00732.x
- Bremer, C., Braker, G., Matthies, D., Reuter, A., Engels, C., Conrad, R., 2007. Impact of plant functional group, plant species, and sampling time on the composition of nirK-type denitrifier communities in soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 73, 6876–84. doi:10.1128/AEM.01536-07
- Brooker, R.W., Bennett, A.E., Cong, W., Daniell, T.J., George, T.S., Hallett, P.D., et al., 2015. Improving intercropping : a synthesis of research in agronomy, plant physiology and ecology. New Phytol 206, 107–117.
- Bru, D., Ramette, A, Saby, N.P.A, Dequiedt, S., Ranjard, L., Jolivet, C., et al., 2011. Determinants of the distribution of nitrogen-cycling microbial communities at the landscape scale. ISME J 5, 532–542. doi:10.1038/ismej.2010.130
- Bulgarelli, D., Rott, M., Schlaeppi, K., van Themaat, E.V.L., Ahmadinejad, N., Assenza, F., et al., 2012. Revealing structure and assembly cues for *Arabidopsis* root-inhabiting bacterial microbiota. Nature 488, 91–95. doi:10.1038/nature11336
- Burford, J.R., Bremner, J.M., 1975. Relationships between the denitrification capacities of soils and total, water-soluble and readily decomposable soil organic matter. Soil Biol Biochem 7, 389–394. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(75)90055-3
- Burke, C., Steinberg, P., Rusch, D., Kjelleberg, S., Thomas, T., 2011a. Bacterial community assembly based on functional genes rather than species. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108, 14288–14293. doi:10.1073/pnas.1101591108
- Burke, C., Thomas, T., Lewis, M., Steinberg, P., Kjelleberg, S., 2011b. Composition, uniqueness and variability of the epiphytic bacterial community of the green alga Ulva australis. ISME J 5, 590–600. doi:10.1038/ismej.2010.164
- Butterbach-Bahl, K., Baggs, E.M., Dannenmann, M., Kiese, R., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., 2013. Nitrous oxide emissions from soils : how well do we understand the processes and their controls ? Phil Trans R Soc 368, 20130122. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0122

- Cavigelli, M.A., Robertson, G.P., 2001. Role of denitrifier diversity in rates of nitrous oxide consumption in a terrestrial ecosystem. Soil Biol Biochem 33, 297–310.
- Chapuis-Lardy, L., Wrage, N., Metay, A., Chotte, J.-L., Bernoux, M., 2007. Soils, a sink for N₂O? A review. Glob Chang Biol 13, 1–17. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01280.x
- Chen, J., Strous, M., 2013. Denitrification and aerobic respiration, hybrid electron transport chains and co-evolution. Biochim Biophys Acta 1827, 136–44. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.10.002
- Chèneby, D., Perrez, S., Devroe, C., Hallet, S., Couton, Y., Bizouard, F., et al., 2004. Denitrifying bacteria in bulk and maize- rhizospheric soil: diversity and N₂O-reducing abilities. Can J Microbiol 50, 469–474. doi:10.1139/W04-037
- Christensen, S., Christensen, B.T., 1991. Organic matter available for denitrification in different soil fractions: effect of freeze/thaw cycles and straw disposal. J Soil Sci 42, 637–647. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.1991.tb00110.x
- Clark, I.M., Buchkina, N., Jhurreea, D., Goulding, K.W.T., Hirsch, P.R., 2012. Impacts of nitrogen application rates on the activity and diversity of denitrifying bacteria in the Broadbalk Wheat Experiment. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 367, 1235–44. doi:10.1098/rstb.2011.0314
- Clays-Josserand, A., Lemanceau, P., Philippot, L., Lensi, R., 1995. Influence of two plant species (Flax and tomato) on the distribution of nitrogen dissimilative abilities within flourescent *Pseudomonas* spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 61, 1745–1749.
- Crush, J.R., 1998. Effect of different forage plants on denitrification potential of Horotiu soil. New Zeal J Agric Res 41, 421–426. doi:10.1080/00288233.1998.9513327
- Čuhel, J., Šimek, M., 2011. Proximal and distal control by pH of denitrification rate in a pasture soil. Agric Ecosyst Environ 141, 230–233. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2011.02.016
- Dandie, C.E., Burton, D.L., Zebarth, B.J., Henderson, S.L., Trevors, J.T., Goyer, C., 2008. Changes in bacterial denitrifier community abundance over time in an agricultural field and their relationship with denitrification activity. Appl Environ Microbiol 74, 5997–6005. doi:10.1128/AEM.00441-08

- Dandie, C.E., Miller, M.N., Burton, D.L., Zebarth, B.J., Trevors, J.T., Goyer, C., 2007a. Nitric oxide reductase-targeted real-time PCR quantification of denitrifier populations in soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 73, 4250–4258. doi:10.1128/AEM.00081-07
- Dandie, C.E., Burton, D.L., Zebarth, B.J., Trevors, J.T., Goyer, C., 2007b. Analysis of denitrification genes and comparison of *nosZ*, *cnorB* and 16S rDNA from culturable denitrifying bacteria in potato cropping systems. Syst Appl Microbiol 30, 128–138. doi:10.1016/j.syapm.2006.05.002
- Danso, S.K. a., Zapata, F., Hardarson, G., Fried, M., 1987. Nitrogen fixation in fababeans as affected by plant population density in sole or intercropped systems with barley. Soil Biol Biochem 19, 411–415. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(87)90031-9
- Davidson, E. a., Keller, M., Erickson, H.E., Verchot, L. V., Veldkamp, E., 2000. Testing a Conceptual Model of Soil Emissions of Nitrous and Nitric Oxides. Bioscience 50, 667. doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0667:TACMOS]2.0.CO;2
- Deiglmayr, K., Philippot, L., Hartwig, U. a., Kandeler, E., 2004. Structure and activity of the nitrate-reducing community in the rhizosphere *of Lolium perenne* and *Trifolium repens* under long-term elevated atmospheric pCO₂. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 49, 445–454. doi:10.1016/j.femsec.2004.04.017
- Dell'Acqua, S., Pauleta, S., Monzani, E., 2008. Electron Transfer Complex between Nitrous Oxide Reductase and Cytochrome c552 from *Pseudomonas nautica*: Kinetic, Nuclear Magnetic Resonance, and Docking. Biochemistry 47, 10852–10862. doi:10.1021/bi801375q
- Dell'Acqua, S., Pauleta, S.R., Moura, I., Moura, J.J.G., 2011. The tetranuclear copper active site of nitrous oxide reductase: the CuZ center. J Biol Inorg Chem 16, 183–94. doi:10.1007/s00775-011-0753-3
- Desnues, C., Michotey, V.D., Wieland, A., Zhizang, C., Fourçans, A., Duran, R., et al., 2007. Seasonal and diel distributions of denitrifying and bacterial communities in a hypersaline microbial mat (Camargue, France). Water Res 41, 3407–3419. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2007.04.018
- Dilks, K., Giménez, M.I., 2005. Genetic and Biochemical Analysis of the Twin-Arginine Translocation Pathway in Halophilic Archaea 187, Am Soc Microbiol 187, 8104–8113. doi:10.1128/JB.187.23.8104

- Ding, W., Cai, Y., Cai, Z., Yagi, K., Zheng, X., 2007. Nitrous oxide emissions from an intensively cultivated maize-wheat rotation soil in the North China Plain. Sci Total Environ 373, 501–511. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.12.026
- Dong, Y., Ouyang, Z., Liu, S., 2005. Nitrogen transformation in maize soil after application of different organic manures. J Environ Sci (China) 17, 340–3.
- Dörsch, P., Palojärvi, a., Mommertz, S., 2004. Overwinter greenhouse gas fluxes in two contrasting agricultural habitats. Nutr Cycl Agroecosystems 70, 117– 133. doi:10.1023/B:FRES.0000048473.11362.63
- Edwards, J., Johnson, C., Santos-Medellín, C., Lurie, E., Podishetty, N.K., Bhatnagar, S., et al., 2015. Structure, variation, and assembly of the rootassociated microbiomes of rice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112, E911–E920. doi:10.1073/pnas.1414592112
- Ehrmann, J., Ritz, K., 2013. Plant: soil interactions in temperate multi-cropping production systems. Plant Soil 1–29. doi:10.1007/s11104-013-1921-8
- Enwall, K., Hallin, S., 2009. Comparison of T-RFLP and DGGE techniques to assess denitrifier community composition in soil. Lett Appl Microbiol 48, 145–148. doi:10.1111/j.1472-765X.2008.02498.x
- Enwall, K., Throbäck, I.N., Stenberg, M., Söderström, M., Hallin, S., 2010. Soil resources influence spatial patterns of denitrifying communities at scales compatible with land management. Appl Environ Microbiol 76, 2243–50. doi:10.1128/AEM.02197-09
- Ferrenberg, S., O'Neill, S.P., Knelman, J.E., Todd, B., Duggan, S., Bradley, D., et al., 2013. Changes in assembly processes in soil bacterial communities following a wildfire disturbance. ISME J 7, 1102–1111. doi:10.1038/ismej.2013.11
- Frunzke, K., Zumft, W.G., 1986. Inhibition of nitrous-oxide respiration by nitric oxide in the denitrifying bacterium *Pseudomonas perfectomarina*. Biochim Biophys Acta 852, 119–125. doi:10.1016/0005-2728(86)90064-2
- Gao, H., Schreiber, F., Collins, G., Jensen, M.M., Svitlica, O., Kostka, J.E., et al., 2010. Aerobic denitrification in permeable Wadden Sea sediments. ISME J 4, 417–426. doi:10.1038/ismej.2010.166
- Giongo, A., Gano, K. a, Crabb, D.B., Mukherjee, N., Novelo, L.L., Casella, G., et al., 2011. Toward defining the autoimmune microbiome for type 1 diabetes. ISME J 5, 82–91. doi:10.1038/ismej.2010.92

- Glockner, A.B., Jüngst, A., Zumft, W.G., 1993. Copper-containing nitrite reductase from *Pseudomonas aureofaciens* is functional in a mutationally cytochrome cd 1-free background (NirS⁻) of *Pseudomonas stutzeri*. Arch Microbiol 160, 18–26. doi:10.1007/BF00258141
- Glockner, F.O., Fuchs, B.M., Amann, R., 1999. Bacterioplankton composition in lakes and oceans: a first comparison based on fluorescence in situ hybridization. Appl Environ Microbiol 65, 3721–3726.
- Graf, D.R.H., Jones, C.M., Hallin, S., 2014. Intergenomic comparisons highlight modularity of the denitrification pathway and underpin the importance of community structure for N₂O emissions. PLoS One 9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0114118
- Graham, D.W., Trippett, C., Dodds, W.K., O'Brien, J.M., Banner, E.B.K., Head, I.M., et al., 2010. Correlations between *in situ* denitrification activity and *nir*gene abundances in pristine and impacted prairie streams. Environ Pollut 158, 3225–3229. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2010.07.010
- Granger, J., Ward, B.B., 2003. Accumulation of nitrogen oxides in copper-limited cultures of denitrifying bacteria. Limnol Oceanogr 48, 313–318. doi:10.4319/lo.2003.48.1.0313
- Green, J., Bohannan, B.J.M., 2006. Spatial scaling of microbial biodiversity. Trends Ecol Evol 21, 501–507. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2006.06.012
- Groffman, P.M., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Fulweiler, R.W., Gold, A.J., Morse, J.L., Stander, E.K., et al., 2009. Challenges to incorporating spatially and temporally explicit phenomena (hotspots and hot moments) in denitrification models. Biogeochemistry 93, 49–77. doi:10.1007/s10533-008-9277-5
- Hallin, S., Hellman, M., Choudhury, M.I., Ecke, F., 2015. Relative importance of plant uptake and plant associated denitrification for removal of nitrogen from mine drainage in sub-arctic wetlands. Water Res 85, 377–383. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2015.08.060
- Hallin, S., Jones, C.M., Schloter, M., Philippot, L., Stres, B., Rosenquist, M., 2009. Relationship between N-cycling communities and ecosystem functioning in a 50-year-old fertilization experiment. ISME J 3, 597–605. doi:10.1038/ismej.2008.128
- Hallin, S., Lindgren, P.E., 1999. PCR detection of genes encoding nitrite reductase in denitrifying bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 65, 1652–7.

- Haltia, T., Brown, K., Tegoni, M., Cambillau, C., Saraste, M., Mattila, K., et al., 2003. Crystal structure of nitrous oxide reductase from Paracoccus denitrificans at 1.6 Å resolution. Society 88, 77–88.
- Hamonts, K., Clough, T.J., Stewart, A., Clinton, P.W., Richardson, A.E., Wakelin, S. a, et al., 2013. Effect of nitrogen and waterlogging on denitrifier gene abundance, community structure and activity in the rhizosphere of wheat. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 83, 568–84. doi:10.1111/1574-6941.12015
- Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., Ambus, P., Jensen, E.S., 2001. Interspecific competition, N use and interference with weeds in pea-barley intercropping. F Crop Res 70, 101–109. doi:10.1016/S0378-4290(01)00126-5
- Hénault, C., Devis, X., Page, S., Justes, E., Reau, R., Germon, J.C., 1998. Nitrous oxide emissions under different soil and land management conditions. Biol Fertil Soils 26, 199–207. doi:10.1007/s003740050368
- Henry, S., Bru, D., Stres, B., Hallet, S., Philippot, L., 2006. Quantitative detection of the nosZ gene, encoding nitrous oxide reductase, and comparison of the abundances of 16S rRNA, *narG*, *nirK*, and *nosZ* genes in soils. Appl Environ Microbiol 72, 5181–9. doi:10.1128/AEM.00231-06
- Henry, S., Texier, S., Hallet, S., Bru, D., Dambreville, C., Chèneby, D., et al., 2008. Disentangling the rhizosphere effect on nitrate reducers and denitrifiers: insight into the role of root exudates. Env Microbiol 10, 3082– 92. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01599.x
- Hooper, D.U., Chapin, F.S.I.I.I., Ewel, J.J., Hector, A., Inchausti, P., Lavorel, S., et al., 2005. Effects of Biodiversity on Ecosystem Fuctioning: A Consesus of Current Knowledge. Ecol Monogr 75, 3–35. doi:10.1890/04-0922
- Hooper, D.U., Vitousek, P.M., 1997. Effects of Plant Composition and Diversity on Ecosystem Processes. Science 277, 1302–1305.
- Horner-Devine, M.C., Bohannan, B.J.M., 2006. Phylogenetic clustering and overdispersion in bacterial communities. Ecology 87, 100–108. doi:10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[100:PCAOIB]2.0.CO;2
- Hubbel, S.P., 2001. The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity And Biogeography, 1st ed. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Højberg, O.L.E., Binnerup, S.J.J., Sifrensen, J.A.N., Sørensen, J., 1996. Potential rates of ammonium oxidation, nitrite oxidation, nitrate reduction and denitrification in the young barley rhizosphere. Soil Biol Biochem 28, 47–54. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(95)00119-0

- IPCC, 2013. IPCC, 2013: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- IPCC, 2007. IPCC 2007 Working group I: the physical science basis. In IPCC fourth assessment report: climate change 2007. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Ji, B., Yang, K., Wang, H., Zhou, J., Zhang, H., 2015. Aerobic denitrification by Pseudomonas stutzeri C3 incapable of heterotrophic nitrification. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 38, 407–409. doi:10.1007/s00449-014-1271-9
- Johnson, K.H., 2000. Trophic-dynamic considerations in relating species diversity to ecosystem resilience. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 75, 347–376. doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2000.tb00048.x
- Jones, C.M., Hallin, S., 2010. Ecological and evolutionary factors underlying global and local assembly of denitrifier communities. ISME J 4, 633–641. doi:10.1038/ismej.2009.152
- Jones, C.M., Spor, A., Brennan, F.P., Breuil, M., Bru, D., Lemanceau, P., et al., 2014. Recently identified microbial guild mediates soil N₂O sink capacity. Nat Clim Chang 4, 801–805. doi:10.1038/nclimate2301
- Jones, C.M., Stres, B., Rosenquist, M., Hallin, S., 2008. Phylogenetic analysis of nitrite, nitric oxide, and nitrous oxide respiratory enzymes reveal a complex evolutionary history for denitrification. Mol Biol Evol 25, 1955–1966. doi:10.1093/molbev/msn146
- Jones, C.M., Welsh, A., Throbäck, I.N., Dörsch, P., Bakken, L.R., Hallin, S., et al., 2011. Phenotypic and genotypic heterogeneity among closely related soilborne N₂ - and N₂O-producing *Bacillus* isolates harboring the *nosZ* gene. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 76, 541–52. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01071.x
- Junier, P., Kim, O.S.O., Witzel, K.K.P., Imhoff, J.J.F., Hadas, O., 2008. Habitat partitioning of denitrifying bacterial communities carrying *nirS* or *nirK* genes in the stratified water column of Lake Kinneret, Israel. Aquat Microb Ecol 51, 129–140. doi:10.3354/ame01186
- Kesik, M., Blagodatsky, S., Papen, H., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2006. Effect of pH, temperature and substrate on N2O, NO and CO 2 production by *Alcaligenes faecalis* p. J Appl Microbiol 101, 655–667. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2006.02927.x

- Kilian, S., Werner, D., 1996. Enhanced denitrification in plots of N₂-fixing faba beans compared to plots of a non-fixing legume and non-legumes. Biol Fertil Soils 21, 77–83. doi:10.1007/BF00335996
- Kim, S.-Y., Lee, S.-H., Freeman, C., Fenner, N., Kang, H., 2008. Comparative analysis of soil microbial communities and their responses to the short-term drought in bog, fen, and riparian wetlands. Soil Biol Biochem 40, 2874– 2880. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.08.004
- Klemedtsson, L., Svensson, B.O.H., Rosswall, T., 1987. Dinitrogen and nitrous oxide produced by denitrification and nitrification in soil with and without barley plants. Plant Soil 319, 303–319.
- Knapp, C.W., Dodds, W.K., Wilson, K.C., O'Brien, J.M., Graham, D.W., Petersen, D.G., et al., 2009. Spatial heterogeneity of denitrification genes in a highly homogenous urban stream. Environ Sci Technol 43, 4273–9. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2007.04.018
- Koeppel, A.F., Wu, M., 2012. Lineage-dependent ecological coherence in bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01387.x
- Kool, D.M., Dolfing, J., Wrage, N., Van Groenigen, J.W., 2011. Nitrifier denitrification as a distinct and significant source of nitrous oxide from soil. Soil Biol Biochem 43, 174–178. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.09.030
- Kurland, C.G., Canback, B., Berg, O.G., 2003. Horizontal gene transfer : A critical view. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 9658–9662. doi:10.1073/pnas.1632870100
- Lalucat, J., Bennasar, A., Bosch, R., García-Valdés, E., Palleroni, N.J., 2006. Biology of Pseudomonas stutzeri. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 70, 510–547. doi:10.1128/MMBR.00047-05
- Lauber, C.L., Hamady, M., Knight, R., Fierer, N., 2009. Pyrosequencing-based assessment of soil pH as a predictor of soil bacterial community structure at the continental scale. Appl Environ Microbiol 75, 5111–5120. doi:10.1128/AEM.00335-09
- Lee, P. a, Tullman-Ercek, D., Georgiou, G., 2006. The bacterial twin-arginine translocation pathway. Annu Rev Microbiol 60, 373–95. doi:10.1146/annurev.micro.60.080805.142212
- Ley, R.E., Bäckhed, F., Turnbaugh, P., Lozupone, C. A, Knight, R.D., Gordon, J.I., 2005. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 11070–11075. doi:10.1073/pnas.0504978102

- Ligi, T., Truu, M., Truu, J., Nõlvak, H., Kaasik, A., Mitsch, W.J., et al., 2013. Effects of soil chemical characteristics and water regime on denitrification genes (*nirS*, *nirK*, and *nosZ*) abundances in a created riverine wetland complex. Ecol Eng 72, 47–55. doi:10.1016/j.ecoleng.2013.07.015
- Lindau, C.W., DeLaune, R.D., Patrick, W.H., Bollich, P.K., 1990. Fertilizer Effects on Dinitrogen, Nitrous Oxide, and Methane Emissions from Lowland Rice. Soil Sci Soc Am J 54, 1789. doi:10.2136/sssaj1990.03615995005400060048x
- Lindström, E.S., Langenheder, S., 2012. Local and regional factors influencing bacterial community assembly. Environ Microbiol Rep 4, 1–9. doi:10.1111/j.1758-2229.2011.00257.x
- Liu, L., Greaver, T.L., 2009. A review of nitrogen enrichment effects on three biogenic GHGs: The CO₂ sink may be largely offset by stimulated N₂O and CH₄ emission. Ecol Lett 12, 1103–1117. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01351.x
- Liu, X., Gao, C., Zhang, A., Jin, P., Wang, L., Feng, L., 2008. The nos gene cluster from gram-positive bacterium *Geobacillus thermodenitrificans* NG80-2 and functional characterization of the recombinant NosZ. FEMS Microbiol Lett 289, 46–52. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2008.01362.x
- Loreau, M., 2004. Does functional redundancy exist? Oikos 3, 606–611. doi:10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.12685.x
- Lundberg, D.S., Lebeis, S.L., Paredes, S.H., Yourstone, S., Gehring, J., Malfatti, S., et al., 2012. Defining the core *Arabidopsis thaliana* root microbiome. Nature 488, 86–90. doi:10.1038/nature11237
- Martiny, A.C., Tai, A.P.K., Veneziano, D., Primeau, F., Chisholm, S.W., 2009. Taxonomic resolution, ecotypes and the biogeography of *Prochlorococcus*. Environ Microbiol 11, 823–832. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01803.x
- Martiny, J.B.H., Bohannan, B.J.M., Brown, J.H., Colwell, R.K., Fuhrman, J. A, Green, J.L., et al., 2006. Microbial biogeography: putting microorganisms on the map. Nat Rev Microbiol 4, 102–112. doi:10.1038/nrmicro1341
- Matsubara, T., Frunzke, K., Zumft, W.G., 1982. Modulation by copper of the products of nitrite respiration in Pseudomonas perfectomarinus. J Bacteriol 149, 816–823.

- Mounier, E., Hallet, S., Chèneby, D., Benizri, E., Gruet, Y., Nguyen, C., et al., 2004. Influence of maize mucilage on the diversity and activity of the denitrifying community. Environ Microbiol 6, 301–312. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00571.x
- Mueller, K.E., Hobbie, S.E., Tilman, D., Reich, P.B., 2013. Effects of plant diversity, N fertilization, and elevated carbon dioxide on grassland soil N cycling in a long-term experiment. Glob Chang Biol 19, 1249–1261. doi:10.1111/gcb.12096
- Nannipieri, P., Ascher, J., Ceccherini, M.T., Landi, L., Pietramellara, G., Renella, G., 2003. Microbial diversity and soil functions. Eur J Soil Sci 54, 655–670. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2389.2003.00556.x
- Nemergut, D.R., Schmidt, S.K., Fukami, T., O'Neill, S.P., Bilinski, T.M., Stanish, L.F., et al., 2013. Patterns and Processes of Microbial Community Assembly. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 77, 342–356. doi:10.1128/MMBR.00051-12
- Newton, R.J., Jones, S.E., Eiler, A., McMahon, K.D., Bertilsson, S., 2011. A guide to the natural history of freshwater lake bacteria., Microbiology and molecular biology reviews : MMBR. doi:10.1128/MMBR.00028-10
- Ni, K., Ding, W., Zaman, M., Cai, Z., Wang, Y., Zhang, X., et al., 2012. Nitrous oxide emissions from a rainfed-cultivated black soil in Northeast China: Effect of fertilization and maize crop. Biol Fertil Soils 48, 973–979. doi:10.1007/s00374-012-0709-y
- Niklaus, P. a., Wardle, D. a., Tate, K.R., 2006. Effects of plant species diversity and composition on nitrogen cycling and the trace gas balance of soils. Plant Soil 282, 83–98. doi:10.1007/s11104-005-5230-8
- Nogales, B., Timmis, K.N., Nedwell, D.B., Osborn, A.M., 2002. Detection and Diversity of Expressed Denitrification Genes in Estuarine Sediments after Reverse Transcription-PCR Amplification from mRNA. Society 68, 5017– 5025. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.10.5017
- Okereke, G.U., 1993. Growth yield of denitrifiers using nitrous oxide as a terminal electron acceptor. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 9, 59–62. doi:10.1007/BF00656518
- Palmer, K., Drake, H.L., Horn, M. a., 2010. Association of novel and highly diverse acid-tolerant denitrifiers with N₂O fluxes of an acidic fen. Appl Environ Microbiol 76, 1125–1134. doi:10.1128/AEM.02256-09

- Palmer, K., Drake, H.L., Horn, M. a., 2009. Genome-derived criteria for assigning environmental *narG* and *nosZ* sequences to operational taxonomic units of nitrate reducers. Appl Environ Microbiol 75, 5170–4. doi:10.1128/AEM.00254-09
- Palmer, T., Berks, B.C., 2012. The twin-arginine translocation (Tat) protein export pathway. Nat Rev Microbiol 10, 483–496. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2814
- Paraskevopoulos, K., Antonyuk, S. V., Sawers, R.G., Eady, R.R., Hasnain, S.S., 2006. Insight into Catalysis of Nitrous Oxide Reductase from Highresolution Structures of Resting and Inhibitor-bound Enzyme from *Achromobacter cycloclastes*. J Mol Biol 362, 55–65. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2006.06.064
- Parkin, T.B., 1987. Soil Microsites as a Source of Denitrification Variability. Soil Sci Soc Am J 51, 1194. doi:10.2136/sssaj1987.03615995005100050019x
- Parkin, T.B., Sexstone, A.J., Tiedje, J.M., 1985. Adaptation of Denitrifying Populations to Low Soil pH. Appl Environ Microbiol 49, 1053–1056.
- Patra, A.K., Abbadie, L., Clays-Josserand, A., Degrange, V., Grayston, S.J., Guillaumaud, N., et al., 2006. Effects of management regime and plant species on the enzyme activity and genetic structure of N-fixing, denitrifying and nitrifying bacterial communities in grassland soils. Environ Microbiol 8, 1005–1016. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2006.00992.x
- Payne, W.J., Grant, M. a, Shapleigh, J., Hoffman, P., 1982. Nitrogen oxide reduction in Wolinella succinogenes and Campylobacter species. J Bacteriol 152, 915–8.
- Petersen, D.G., Blazewicz, S.J., Firestone, M.K., Herman, D.J., Turetsky, M., Waldrop, M., 2012. Abundance of microbial genes associated with nitrogen cycling as indices of biogeochemical process rates across a vegetation gradient in Alaska. Environ Microbiol 14, 993–1008. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02679.x
- Philippot, L., 2002. Denitrifying genes in bacterial and Archaeal genomes. Biochim Biophys acta 1577, 355–376. doi:10.1016/S0167-4781(02)00420-7
- Philippot, L., Andersson, S.G.E., Battin, T.J., Prosser, J.I., Schimel, J.P., Whitman, W.B., et al., 2010a. The ecological coherence of high bacterial taxonomic ranks. Nat Rev Microbiol 8, 523–9. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2367

- Philippot, L., Andert, J., Jones, C.M., Bru, D., Hallin, S., 2010b. Importance of denitrifiers lacking the genes encoding the nitrous oxide reductase for N₂O emissions from soil. Glob Chang Biol 17, no–no. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02334.x
- Philippot, L., Bru, D., Saby, N.P. a, Cuhel, J., Arrouays, D., Simek, M., et al., 2009a. Spatial patterns of bacterial taxa in nature reflect ecological traits of deep branches of the 16S rRNA bacterial tree. Environ Microbiol 11, 3096– 104. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.02014.x
- Philippot, L., Cuhel, J., Saby, N.P., Chèneby, D., Chronáková, A., Bru, D., et al., 2009b. Mapping field-scale spatial patterns of size and activity of the denitrifier community. Environ Microbiol 11, 1518–26. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.01879.x
- Philippot, L., Hallin, S., Börjesson, G., Baggs, E.M., 2009c. Biochemical cycling in the rhizosphere having an impact on global change. Plant Soil 321, 61–81. doi:10.1007/s11104-008-9796-9
- Philippot, L., Hallin, S., Schloter, M., 2007. Ecology of denitrifying prokaryotes in agricultural soil. Adv Agron, 96, 249 305. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(07)96003-4
- Philippot, L., Piutti, S., Martin-laurent, F., Hallet, S., Germon, J.C., 2002. Molecular Analysis of the Nitrate-Reducing Community from Unplanted and Maize-Planted Soils. Appl Env Microbiol 68, 6121–6128. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.12.6121
- Philippot, L., Spor, A., Hénault, C., Jones, C.M.C.M., Sarr, A., Maron, P.-A., et al., 2013. Loss in microbial diversity affects nitrogen cycling in soil. ISME J 7, 1609–1619. doi:10.1038/ismej.2013.34
- Pohlschröder, M., Giménez, M.I., Jarrell, K.F., 2005. Protein transport in Archaea: Sec and twin arginine translocation pathways. Curr Opin Microbiol 8, 713– 719. doi:10.1016/j.mib.2005.10.006
- Prade, K., Trolldenier, G., 1988. Effect of wheat roots on denitrification at varying soil air-filled porosity and organic-carbon content. Biol Fertil Soils 7, 1–6. doi:10.1007/BF00260723
- Prasse, C.E., Baldwin, A.H., Yarwood, S. a., 2015. Site History and Edaphic Features Override the Influence of Plant Species on Microbial Communities in Restored Tidal Freshwater Wetlands. Appl Environ Microbiol 81, 3482– 3491. doi:10.1128/AEM.00038-15

- Qian, J.I.N.H., Doran, J.W., Walters, D.T., 1997. Maize plant contributions to root zone available carbon and microbial transformations of nitrogen. Soil Biol Biochem 29, 1451–1462.
- Ravishankara, a R., Daniel, J.S., Portmann, R.W., 2009. Nitrous oxide (N₂O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326, 123–125. doi:10.1126/science.1176985
- Reich, P.B., Tilman, D., Isbell, F., Mueller, K., Hobbie, S.E., Flynn, D.F.B., et al., 2012. Impacts of Biodiversity Loss Escalate Through Time as Redundancy Fades. Science 336, 589–592. doi:10.1126/science.1217909
- Richardson, D., Felgate, H., Watmough, N., Thomson, A., Baggs, E., 2009. Mitigating release of the potent greenhouse gas N₂O from the nitrogen cycle - could enzymic regulation hold the key? Trends Biotechnol 27, 388–397. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.03.009
- Rose, R.W., Brüser, T., Kissinger, J.C., Pohlschröder, M., 2002. Adaptation of protein secretion to extremely high-salt conditions by extensive use of the twin-arginine translocation pathway. Mol Microbiol 45, 943–950. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03090.x
- Ruiz-Rueda, O., Hallin, S., Bañeras, L.L.L., 2009. Structure and function of denitrifying and nitrifying bacterial communities in relation to the plant species in a constructed wetland. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 67, 308–19. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2008.00615.x
- Sale, P.F., 1978. Coexistence of coral reef fishes a lottery for living space. Env Biol Fish 3, 85–102.
- Sanford, R., Wagner, D.D., Wu, Q., Chee-Sanford, J.C., Thomas, S.H., Cruz-García, C., et al., 2012. Unexpected nondenitrifier nitrous oxide reductase gene diversity and abundance in soils. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109, 19709–19714. doi:10.1073/pnas.1211238109
- Sanford, R.A., Cole, J.R., Tiedje, J.M., 2002. Characterization and Description of Anaeromyxobacter dehalogenans gen. nov., sp. nov., an Aryl-Halorespiring Facultative Anaerobic Myxobacterium. Appl Environ Microbiol 68, 893– 900. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.2.893
- Scaglia, J., Lensi, R., Chalamet, A., 1985. Relationship between photosynthesis and denitrification in planted soil.Plant Soil 84, 37-43
- Scala, D.J., Kerkhof, L.J., 1999. Diversity of nitrous oxide reductase (nosZ) genes in continental shelf sediments. Appl Environ Microbiol 65, 1681–7.

- Schaufler, G., Kitzler, B., Schindlbacher, A., Skiba, U., Sutton, M. A.,Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., 2010. Greenhouse gas emissions from European soils under different land use: Effects of soil moisture and temperature. Eur J Soil Sci 61, 683–696. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.2010.01277.x
- Schimel, J., 2001. Global Biogeochemical Cycles in the Climate System, in: Schulze, E.-D., Heimann, M., Harrison, S. (Eds.), Global Biogeochemical Cycles in the Climate System. Elsevier, pp. 177–183. doi:10.1016/B978-012631260-7/50015-7
- Schmidt, C.S., Richardson, D.J., Baggs, E.M., 2011. Constraining the conditions conducive to dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonium in temperate arable soils. Soil Biol Biochem 43, 1607–1611. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.02.015
- Sehy, U., Ruser, R., Munch, J.C., 2003. Nitrous oxide fluxes from maize fields: Relationship to yield, site-specific fertilization, and soil conditions. Agric Ecosyst Environ 99, 97–111. doi:10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00139-7
- Sey, B.K., Manceur, A.M., Whalen, J.K., Gregorich, E.G., Rochette, P., 2010. Root-derived respiration and nitrous oxide production as affected by crop phenology and nitrogen fertilization. Plant Soil 326, 369–379. doi:10.1007/s11104-009-0018-x
- Shapleigh, J.P., 2006. The Denitrifying Prokaryotes in The Prokaryotes:Vol 2. pp. 769–792. Springer, New York, USA. doi:10.1007/0-387-30742-7
- Sharma, S., Aneja, M.K., Mayer, J., Munch, C., Schloter, M., Munch, J.C., 2005. Diversity of Transcripts of Nitrite Reductase Genes (*nirK* and *nirS*) in Rhizospheres of Grain Legumes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 2001–2007. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.4.2001
- Simberloff, D. and T.D., Dayan, T., 1991. The Guild Concept and the Structure of Ecological Communities. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 22,115-143
- Simek, M., Cooper, J.E., 2002. The influence of pH on denitrification:Progress towards the understanding of this interaction over the last fifty years. Eur J Soil Sci 53, 345–354.
- Šimek, M., Jíšová, L., Hopkins, D.W., 2002. What is the so-called optimum pH for denitrification in soil? Soil Biol Biochem 34, 1227–1234. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(02)00059-7

- Simon, J., Einsle, O., Kroneck, P.M.H., Zumft, W.G., 2004. The unprecedented nos gene cluster of Wolinella succinogenes encodes a novel respiratory electron transfer pathway to cytochrome c nitrous oxide reductase. FEBS lett 569, 7–12. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.05.060
- Skiba, U., Smith, K. A., 2000. The control of nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural and natural soils. Chemosphere Glob Chang Sci 2, 379–386. doi:10.1016/S1465-9972(00)00016-7
- Smith, J.M., Ogram, A., 2008. Genetic and functional variation in denitrifier populations along a short-term restoration chronosequence. Appl Environ Microbiol 74, 5615–5620. doi:10.1128/AEM.00349-08
- Smith, K. A., Mosier, A. R., Crutzen, P.J., Winiwarter, W., 2012. The role of N₂O derived from crop-based biofuels, and from agriculture in general, in Earth's climate. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 367, 1169–1174. doi:10.1098/rstb.2011.0313
- Smith, M.S., Tiedje, J.M., 1979. The Effect of Roots on Soil Denitrification. Soil Sci Soc Am J 43, 951-955. doi:10.2136/sssaj1979.03615995004300050027x
- Song, B., Lisa, J., Tobias, C., 2014. Linking DNRA community structure and activity in a shallow lagoonal estuarine system. Front Microbiol 5:460, 1–10. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2014.00460
- Spiro, S., 2012. Nitrous oxide production and consumption: regulation of gene expression by gas-sensitive transcription factors. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 367, 1213–1225. doi:10.1098/rstb.2011.0309
- Su, J.J., Liu, B.Y., Lin, J., Yang, C.P., 2001. Isolation of an aerobic denitrifying bacterial strain NS-2 from the activated sludge of piggery wastewater treatment systems in Taiwan possessing denitrification under 92% oxygen atmosphere. J Appl Microbiol 91, 853–860. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2672.2001.01454.x
- Suharti, Heering, H. a, de Vries, S., 2004. NO reductase from *Bacillus azotoformans* is a bifunctional enzyme accepting electrons from menaquinol and a specific endogenous membrane-bound cytochrome c551. Biochemistry 43, 13487–13495. doi:10.1021/bi0488101
- Sun, H., Zhang, C., Song, C., Chang, S.X., Gu, B., Chen, Z., et al., 2013. The effects of plant diversity on nitrous oxide emissions in hydroponic microcosms. Atmos Environ 77, 544–547. doi:10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.05.058

- Svensson, B.H., Klemedtsson, L., Simkins, S., Paustian, K., Rosswall, T., 1991. Soil denitrification in three cropping systems characterized by differences in nitrogen and carbon supply. Plant Soil 138, 275–271. doi:10.1007/BF00012254
- Throbäck, I.N., Enwall, K., Jarvis, A., Hallin, S., 2004. Reassessing PCR primers targeting *nirS*, *nirK* and *nosZ* genes for community surveys of denitrifying bacteria with DGGE. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 49, 401–17. doi:10.1016/j.femsec.2004.04.011
- Turnbaugh, P.J., Ley, R.E., Hamady, M., Fraser-liggett, C., Knight, R., Gordon, J.I., 2007. The human microbiome project: exploring the microbial part of ourselves in a changing world. Nature 449, 804–810. doi:10.1038/nature06244.The
- Wallenstein, M.D., Myrold, D.D., Firestone, M.K., Voytek, M., 2006. Environmental controls on denitrifying communities and denitrification rates: insights from molecular methods. Ecol Appl 16, 2143–52.
- Webb, C.O., Ackerly, D.D., Mcpeek, M. a, Donoghue, M.J., 2002. Phylogenies and Community Ecology 33, 475–505.
- Weiher, E., Keddy, P., 1995. Assembly rules, null models, and trait dispersion: new questions from old patterns. Oikos 74, 159–164.
- Vellend, M., 2010. Conceptual synthesis in community ecology. Q Rev Biol Biol 85, 183–206.
- Verbaendert, I., Hoefman, S., Boeckx, P., Boon, N., De Vos, P., 2014. Primers for overlooked *nirK*, *qnorB*, and *nosZ* genes of thermophilic Gram-positive denitrifiers. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 89, 162–80. doi:10.1111/1574-6941.12346
- Verma, A., Tyagi, L., Yadav, S., Singh, S.N., 2006. Temporal changes in N₂O efflux from cropped and fallow agricultural fields. Agric Ecosyst Environ 116, 209–215. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2006.02.005
- Wheatley, R., Ritz, K., Griffiths, B., 1990. Microbial biomass and mineral N transformations in soil planted with barley, ryegrass, pea or turnip. Plant Soil 127, 157–167. doi:10.1007/BF00014422
- Woldendorp, J.W., 1962. The quantitative influence of the rhizosphere on denitrification. Plant Soil 17, 267–270. doi:10.1007/BF01376229

- Woodcock, S., Van Der Gast, C.J., Bell, T., Lunn, M., Curtis, T.P., Head, I.M., et al., 2007. Neutral assembly of bacterial communities. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 62, 171–180. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2007.00379.x
- Xing, G.X., 1998. Denitrification-Derived N₂O Emission From Soils. Nutr Cycl Agroecosystems 52, 249–254.
- Yamulki, S., Harrison, R., Goulding, K.W.T., Webster, C., 1997. N₂O, NO and NO₂ fluxes from a grassland: Effect of soil pH. Soil Biol Biochem 29, 1199– 1208.
- Zak, D.R., Holmes, W.E., White, D.C., Peacock, A.D., Tilman, D., 2003. Plant diversity, soil microbial communities, and ecosystem function: are there any links? 84, 2042–2050. doi:10.1890/02-0433
- Zhu, G., Zhou, L., Wang, Y., Wang, S., Guo, J., Long, X.-E., et al., 2015. Biogeographical distribution of denitrifying anaerobic methane oxidizing bacteria in Chinese wetland ecosystems. Environ Microbiol Rep 7, 128–138. doi:10.1111/1758-2229.12214
- Zumft, W.G., 2006. Biogenesis of the bacterial respiratory CuA, Cu-S enzyme nitrous oxide reductase. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 10, 154–166. doi:10.1159/000091562
- Zumft, W.G., 2005. Nitric oxide reductases of prokaryotes with emphasis on the respiratory, heme-copper oxidase type. J Inorg Biochem 99, 194–215. doi:10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2004.09.024
- Zumft, W.G., 1997. Cell biology and molecular basis of denitrification. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 61, 533–616.
- Zwart, G., Crump, B.C., Kamst-van Agterveld, M.P., Hagen, F., Han, S.-K., 2002. Typical fresh water bacteria: an analysis of available 16S rRNA gene sequences from plankton of lakes and rivers. Aquat Microb Ecol 28, 141– 155. doi:10.3354/ame028141

Acknowledgement

This work was mainly supported by the Oscar and Lili Lamm foundation and the KoN-program Soil-Plant Interactions within the Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), with additional support from the Department of Plant Biology, SLU.

Sara Hallin – I am truly grateful that you gave me this chance and took me under your wing. Being able to learn from you has been a great privilege. Thank you for your help, your advice and your encouragement, but above all, - your patience.

Chris Jones – I don't know where to start, thank you for all the time and effort you spent helping and explaining. I know this was as much of a challenge for you as it was for me. Thank you for kicking my ass and clapping my shoulder when needed. In our science discussions you both enlightened and challenged me and I appreciate both greatly.

Allana Welsh – I have no idea how I would have managed without you teaching me lab work during those first months? I will always remember how much fun we had.

Maria Hellman – Thank you for your open ear in both work related and private matters. I very much appreciated our occasional gardener to gardener chit chats.

German Bonilla Rosso – Thank you for your help and the occasional hug when it was needed.

Jaanis Juhanson – As my officemate you had to put up with many sighs, tantrums and numerous questions. Thank you for putting up with all that calmly and patiently.

Karin Önneby –Thank you for all our talks and lunches and all the support you gave me when I needed it the most. You're the best!

Lea Wittorf – Thank you for being a good colleague and especially your encouragement during this challenging past months.

Tina Putz – I appreciated our nordic walking tours and the accompanying talks about work, life and everything.

Salome Schneider – Always friendly and ready with clever advice I especially appreciated our conversations in alemannic.

Inga Bödeker – A true friend in bad times and an awesome master thesis supervisor. Thank you!

Genia Tiukova – Thank you for checking on me every now and then and giving me encouragement.

Mikael Pell – You are one of the best pedagogues I have met and I consider myself lucky to have been able to teach together with you.

Anki, Stina, Ingemar, Sture, Elisabet, Maria E. – The soul of the department. Thank you for your kind help in administrative and technical matters.

My family – Thank you for supporting me during all these years since I have been away from home always giving me the feeling that I am always welcome back no matter what.

Thomas Wimark – Knowing that you are a part of my family is very important to me. Thank you for being my best friend.

Jon Berg – My knight in shining armour! I don't know if I would have come so far without you. Thank you for all your support, your patience and your love. I love you!